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As the Integrated Reporting <IR> 
advocate for Malaysia, MIA is 
delighted to embark on our personal 
<IR> journey. Throughout the process, 
we have learnt a great deal about 
value creation, our business model, 
and impacts, which we have integrated 
into our sustainable strategy.

Strategic Q&A 
with our CEO
The strategies we have 
earmarked include carrying 
out an end-to-end  
review of current 
accountancy education.

14

Sharing
Value

This report is MIA’s first Integrated 
Report, prepared in accordance 
with the International Integrated 
Reporting Framework. The objective 

of this report is to provide a comprehensive 
overview of MIA’s value creation framework 
and review of performance, in both 
non-financial and financial aspects. 

This report is particularly important because 
MIA is the national advocate for the adoption 
of <IR> in the Malaysian market. We intend 
for this report to be a model for other 
organisations embarking on this journey.

Our value creation framework considers 
the future value and market trends of the 
accountancy sector, and articulates our 
nation building agenda. In view of these, 
we have formulated five strategic objectives 
to address the trends that may impact our 
organisation and stakeholders and our 
nation building agenda development. In 
this report, our performance is, therefore, 
reviewed against the strategic objectives.

To prepare a relevant report, we collaborated 
strategically and engaged regularly with 
stakeholders regarding their concerns and 
interest to build strong relationships and 
further our common goal of nation building. 
For greater clarity and transparency, we 
have communicated our responses and 
future actions throughout the report for 
the scrutiny of our stakeholders. 

In summary, this report aims to provide 
the following insights:

i. Our nation building agenda

ii. Our value creation framework

iii. Review of non-financial performance

iv. Review of financial performance

This report is also available for download 
on our website (www.mia.org.my). 

About this integrated report

#NATIONBUILDING
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‘67
MIA was established on  
30 September 1967, pursuant 
to the implementation of the  
Accountants Act, 1967.

‘77
The ASEAN Federation of Accountants 
(AFA) was established in March 1977, 
to serve as the umbrella organisation 
for the Association of South East Asian 
Nations (ASEAN). AFA originally had 
five founding member bodies – 
the national accountancy bodies 
of Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, 
Singapore and Thailand. 

‘78
 
MIA became one of the 63 founding 
members of the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC).

‘91
MIA moved out of its rented office 
space in Kompleks Antarabangsa, 
Jalan Sultan Ismail and set up residence 
in its own office building in Brickfields 
(Dewan Akauntan) for the next 25 years.

‘03
The Practice Review Framework was 
implemented to regulate practitioners 
and ensure that they observe the minimum 
standards in managing their practices. 

50 Years of
#NationBuilding

‘88
Regional Offices were set up to better 
serve members in the respective regions 
(Penang, Johor, Sabah and Sarawak). 

MIA’s very own magazine was first 
published in 1988, featuring articles 
and Q&As. The Akauntan Nasional 
was rebranded to Accountants Today 
in 2003.

Milestones

2
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‘10 
 
MIA hosted the World Congress 
of Accountants (WCOA) with the 
theme Accountants: Sustaining 
Value Creation. The WCOA 
consisted of 6,050 delegates from 
134 countries, with 183 speakers 
and 35 sessions – 6,050 delegates 
being the largest number of 
delegates since 1904.

‘11
 
The National Accountants 
Conference (NAC) was rebranded 
to MIA International Accountants 
Conference as it was going 
international. Today, the 
MIA Conference is one of the 
largest gathering of accountants 
in the region.

MIA won the Human Resources 
Minister’s Award under the Training 
Providers Category for its exceptional 
contribution and role in the human 
resources development sector of 
Malaysia. The Human Resources 
Development Award is issued by 
Pembangunan Sumber Manusia Bhd 
to training providers who play 
significant roles in the human 
resources development in  
the country.

‘04
MIA rebranded itself by launching 
a new logo designed with modern 
typography to reflect the dynamic 
environment of the 21st century and 
the professionalism of accountants.

Our Golden Jubilee not only 
commemorates our legacy, but is 
a watershed to reassess and renew 
our commitment to our purpose, 
our legacy and the way forward 
as we strive to build a better 
profession and nation.

‘13
 
MIA won the inaugural RaWr Awards 
organised by MyCEB for the best 
national business event for the MIA 
Conference 2012. The award recognised 
MIA’s capabilities in managing 
international standard events.

‘16
 
MIA moved to its new headquarters 
in Bangsar South, an enclave for 
cyber and digital businesses and ICT, 
surrounded by the MSC Malaysia 
Cybercentre. The Vertical symbolises 
MIA’s upward move from an old to 
a new economy location.

The MIA Digital Membership Privilege 
Card was launched, providing 
membership features and benefits to 
its members with convenience and ease.

‘17
 
Recognising the growing need 
for sustainability and corporate 
governance, MIA produced its 
inaugural Integrated Report 
communicating our integrated 
thinking, strategy and value creation. 

MIA turns 50 on 30th September 
2017, commemorating 50 years 
of our efforts to build a vibrant 
and reputable profession that  
supports nation building. Our  
fundamental goal is to build up  
capacity and competency, which 
means continually producing  
greater numbers of highly  
skilled and ethical accountancy  
professionals to meet market  
demands. While we face complex 
and unprecedented challenges  
in the 21st century, MIA remains 
committed to future-proofing  
the profession and training  
accountants of quality and  
integrity to serve the nation.
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Working closely alongside strategic 
business partners and stakeholders, 
the management is the key steering 
group that drives our strategy.

From left to right

Dato’ Hj Muhammad 
Redzuan Abdullah

Executive Director
Surveillance & 
Enforcement

 
Simon Tay Pit Eu

Executive Director
Professional Practices 
& Technical

Dr. Nurmazilah  
Dato’ Mahzan

Chief Executive Officer
 

 
Datin SK Yap

Executive Director
Membership & 
Operations

 
G. Shanmugam

Executive Director
Strategy & 
Development

Driving Future
Possibilities

Management team
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We are thrilled to celebrate our Golden 
Jubilee in 2017 with the theme of Integrity, 
Accountability and Trust, which are the 
enduring values that lay the foundation 
of the accountancy profession and inspire 
trust and confidence. While commemorating 
our achievements, we are also assessing 
our relevance and sustainability and 
charting our future direction. We strive  
to build on our legacy to strengthen the 
profession and support nation building. 
We are honoured to be entrusted with 
the mandate of developing and regulating 
the accountancy profession since the 
Accountants Act 1967 came into force, 
and we are committed to delivering 
greater value in the years to come. 

Celebrating
MIA’s 50th Anniversary

VISION
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Vision
To be a globally recognised and 
renowned institute of accountants 
committed to nation building.

Purpose
To develop, support and monitor 
quality and expertise consistent 
with global best practices of the 
accountancy profession in 
the interest of stakeholders.

At a glance

Delivering results for nation building

Core values
Integrity    Mutual Trust and Respect    Professionalism

Accountability    Commitment    Teamwork    Sustainability

IMPACTS
Parliament

Ministry of Finance

Council

Chief Executive Officer Registrar

Surveillance  
& Enforcement

Professional  
Practices 

& Technical

Strategy  
& Development

Membership  
& Operations

1 2 3 4

#NationBuilding
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Membership 
& Operations 
 
 

Membership builds 
up the talent pipeline 
through diverse 
competency and 
capacity-building 
initiatives focused 
on membership 
development, education 
and regionalisation. 
The operations 
function supports 
MIA’s operational and 
financial sustainability 
through the effective 
performance of the 
finance, procurement 
and IT functions. 

Read more in Operating 
Review on page 38

1
Strategy  
& Development 
 
 

Managing strategy 
formulation, 
communications, 
branding, special projects, 
and aligning plans for 
the upcoming 2018-2030 
Strategic Blueprint with 
MIA’s nation building 
agenda. Professional 
development generates 
revenue and enhances 
competency by delivering 
continuing professional 
education content with 
a local edge, accessible 
to all accountancy 
professionals in the 
Malaysian landscape.

2

Read more in Operating 
Review on page 42

Professional 
Practices & 
Technical 
 

Strengthens public 
confidence and 
trust by advocating 
professional values and 
practices. Implements 
standards and guidance 
in areas related to 
accounting, auditing, 
taxation, corporate 
reporting and Capital 
Market. Future-proofs 
the profession by 
championing <IR> and 
technological innovation. 

Read more in Operating 
Review on page 46

3
Surveillance  
& Enforcement 
 
 

Entrusted with 
building a responsive 
and secure regulatory 
environment that 
compels accountants 
to behave professionally 
and sanctions unethical 
behaviour, reinforcing 
public trust in the 
profession and markets. 
Practice Review, Financial 
Statements Review, 
Continuing Professional 
Education Compliance 
Audit, Investigation and 
Disciplinary proceedings 
fall under its scope. 

4

91
complaints completed

Read more in Operating 
Review on page 50

43
publications / technical 
articles published

968
CPE programmes  
delivered

33,294
MIA members
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MIA has put in play key reforms to prepare 
the profession for the future, says past 
President Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Azmi.

I am delighted to have 
had the opportunity to 
serve the profession 
during my two-year term 

which ended on 26 July 2017. 
While it was a highly 
challenging period, MIA 
successfully set in motion 
significant initiatives to 
address the recommendations 
of the Committee for the 
Strengthening of the 
Accountancy Profession 
(CSAP) and to prepare the 
profession for the future. 

In the context of our 
operations, MIA made a 
smooth leadership transition 
following the retirement 
of Ms Ho Foong Moi 
and the appointment 
of Dr Nurmazilah Dato’ 
Mahzan as Chief Executive 
Officer, supported by new 
management appointments, 
a revamp of the organisational 
structure, and a seamless 
move to our new headquarters 
in Bangsar South. 

To improve the governance 
framework of MIA, the 
Council made several key 
policy decisions, such as 

streamlining the roles of 
Committees, creating and 
enhancing the Technology, 
Valuation and Capital 
Market Advisory Committees, 
creating new taskforces 
and setting up a formal 
assessment process for 
the appointment of 
Committee members.

Key Initiatives
Strengthening governance 
and management enabled 
us to put important initiatives 
in play, geared towards 
improving member 
development and satisfaction, 
enhancing the development 
of the entire accountancy 
ecosystem and fraternity, 
repositioning and publicising 
the MIA brand in the eyes 
of the media and key 
stakeholders, and improving 
our enforcement actions, 
to the extent permitted 
by the current Accountants 
Act 1967. Critically, we are 
developing our 2018-2030 
Strategic Blueprint to chart 
out the future path and 
direction of MIA and ensure 
that we remain true to our 
purpose of building the 
profession and the nation. 

Setting the  
Stage for 
Future Growth

Past President’s message
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Strengthening governance 
and management enabled us 
to put important initiatives 
in play, geared towards 
improving member 
development and satisfaction, 
and enhancing the 
development of the entire 
accountancy ecosystem 
and fraternity.”

We are also developing 
a Malaysian Competency 
Framework to determine 
what skills and competencies 
are expected of an accountant 
in Malaysia in the future.

In the context of CSAP, 
MIA worked with the CSAP 
Implementation Committee 
on our operational model 
and proposed changes to 
the Act. We did not waste 
time; MIA has already 
adopted or put into motion 
many of the recommendations 
that did not require amending 
the Act. 

Acknowledgements
I am especially proud to 
have served MIA in the 
run-up to our 50th anniversary. 
While we have made 
significant progress, there 
is still much more to be 
done. I am confident that 
my successor En Salihin 
Abang, together with the 
Council, will be able to 
implement the initiatives 
needed to reinforce the 
importance and relevance 
of the accounting profession. 

Finally, I would like to 
thank the Accountant 
General, Dato’ Hj Che Pee 
Samsuddin, for his support 
and confidence in me, 

and my tireless Vice 
President, Datuk Zaiton 
Mohd Hassan who worked 
passionately for the 
profession before her own 
retirement on 15 July 2017. 
I would also like to thank 
the Council members, 
management and staff 
for their support and 
contributions, and extend 
my apologies for any 
shortcomings. 

Thank you all for the 
privilege of serving MIA 
and the profession. 

Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Azmi 
Past President
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A stronger accountancy profession in Malaysia 
is a positive driver for society and the economy, 
says MIA President Salihin Abang.

I am deeply honoured 
to have been elected 
as MIA President 
effective 24 August 2017, 

and to be entrusted to 
serve the profession in 
this transformational era. 

Steered by MIA Council 
members and management, 
MIA’s immediate agenda 
is to work closely with the 
Committee to Strengthen 
the Accountancy Profession 
(CSAP) Implementation 
Committee to progressively 
develop MIA and the 
accountancy profession 
to support nation building, 
based on the CSAP 
recommendations. 

Our priorities are to continue 
building the capacity and 
competency of accountancy 
professionals. We achieve this 
by positioning accountancy 
as the profession of choice 
to attract talent, while 
continuing professional 
education and engagement 
programmes. Equally critical 
is improving our surveillance 
and enforcement framework 
to embed ethics, compel 
good behaviour, and ensure 
regulatory compliance to 
strengthen the profession. 

Preparing for 
Disruptions 
MIA has identified 
technological, regulatory 
and economic shifts as 
challenging megatrends 
impacting business and the 
profession, and we exhort 
members and accountancy 
professionals in Malaysia to 
future-proof yourselves and 
seize emerging opportunities. 
Digital disruption is driving 
massive adoption of 
technology and artificial 
intelligence (AI) to automate 
low-value work and create 
new high-value roles. 
Regulatory disruption is 
emplacing additional and 
tougher legislation and 
scrutiny, fuelling higher 
expectations for assurance, 
compliance and good 
governance. Economic 
shifts from industrialisation 
to digitalisation are spurring 
sweeping changes to business 
models and business-as-usual. 
Trends like e-commerce, 
on-demand, sharing, 
cybersecurity, decentralisation, 
and fintech are gaining 
traction in a globalised 
e-economy dominated by 
FANGs (Facebook, Amazon, 
Netflix and Google) and 
unicorn startups (Uber, 
Didi Chuxing, Airbnb, 

Future-proofing 
the Profession 

President’s message

10

#NATIONBUILDING



MIA has identified 
technological, regulatory 
and economic shifts as 
challenging megatrends 
impacting business and 
the profession, and we 
exhort members and 
accountancy professionals 
in Malaysia to future-proof 
yourselves and seize 
emerging opportunities.” 

WeWork). Old-school is 
obsolescing, and complacency 
is a death knell. 21st century 
accountancy professionals 
– especially small-and-
medium practitioners (SMPs) 
who are most vulnerable to 
change – must demonstrate 
higher-level skills such as 
critical and strategic thinking, 
collaboration, leadership, 
tech savviness, cultural 
sensitivity, communications 
and adaptability to be 
sustainable and deliver 
value. While MIA is taking 
the initiative to prepare 
members by delivering 
relevant and current 
education, it is up to you 

to grab the initiative to 
learn and change – urgently. 
It’s time to sink or swim. 

Appreciation
In 50 years, MIA has charted 
significant milestones. I thank 
all our stakeholders – the 
Government, the Ministry 
of Finance, the Office of 
the Accountant General, 
the public and private sector, 
international and regional 
organisations – for working 
hand in hand with us and 
hope our collaborations 
and partnerships will 
prosper and endure. Most 
importantly, I extend my 
sincere appreciation to 
the members for being the 
backbone of MIA and the 

profession. Many thanks 
as well to the past President, 
Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Azmi 
for his leadership and efforts 
during his presidency.

A stronger accountancy 
profession in Malaysia is 
a positive driver for society 
and the economy. Let us all 
come together and do our 
part to further develop the 
profession and contribute 
to nation building. 

Salihin Abang 
President

 11



CEO’s statement

30th September 2017 marks the 50th anniversary of MIA 
and 50 years of our cumulative efforts in developing 
the profession which supports nation building. 

To position 
accountancy as 
the profession 
of choice, 
we seek to 
strengthen the 
ecosystem as 
recommended 
by the CSAP and 
to advocate trust, 
accountability 
and integrity.

Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan 
Chief Executive Officer

Delivering
Results
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registered members

33,294

I am truly proud to 
be associated with 
MIA as it celebrates 
the achievements of 

passionate and committed 
accountants who build robust 
institutions and manage 
the nation’s resources and 
capitals with integrity, 
accountability and trust. 
MIA appreciates the 

outreach and membership. 
Plus, we are striving to 
enhance the surveillance 
and enforcement mechanism 
to build trust and confidence 
in the profession. 

Even as we advocate for trust, 
accountability and integrity, 
we have to guarantee that 
our own house is in order. 
Thus, we emphasise robust 
risk management and 
controls to support internal 
good governance and 
achieve the outcomes we 
want, which are competency 
and capacity to support 
nation building. 

As a medium-sized 
organisation that is 
just 170 people strong, 
MIA cannot achieve our 
agenda by utilising internal 
resources alone. Our model 
is collaborative leadership, 
which has served us well 
throughout five decades. 
As the regulator of the 
accountancy profession and 
the national Professional 
Accountancy Organisation 
(PAO), MIA is a thought 
leader and advocate for 
the entire spectrum of 
accountancy-related issues. 
We work together with 
diverse stakeholders to build 
an enabling ecosystem to 
deliver quality accountancy 
services, instil confidence 
and public trust in national 
markets and institutions, 
and support nation building. 
Our collaborative approach 
is backed by transparent 
communications, accountability 
and ownership. An appropriate 
communications framework 
is critical to deliver our 
message across the ecosystem 
accurately and through many 
channels to keep stakeholders 
on board with our mission. 

contributions made by our 
stakeholders and members 
who have been the pillars 
of our strength for the past 
five decades. 

Our Golden Jubilee is aptly 
a time to reflect on what the 
Institute has achieved and 
what the future holds, and to 
realign our direction with the 
purpose of the Accountants 
Act 1967, which is to produce 
more competent accountants 
to support economic and 
social development. From 
1,619 accountants in 1980, 
the Institute has grown 
to 33,294 registered 
members. In line with 
Performance Management 
and Delivery Unit’s 
(PEMANDU) aspiration, we 
recognise the need to 
produce 60,000 accountancy 
professionals by 2020.

To position accountancy 
as the profession of choice, 
we seek to strengthen the 
ecosystem as recommended 
by the CSAP and widen our 

Speaking of collaboration, I 
wish to thank the International 
Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC) for their guidance 
and support in helping us 
to benchmark the Malaysian 
profession to global standards. 
We hope to continue 
collaborating closely with 
the IFAC on common areas 
of interest and to heighten 
our compliance and value add 
with the required Statement 
of Membership Obligations 
(SMOs). Collaboration is a 
two-way street; we seek to 
share our insights with IFAC 
PAOs in areas where we 
command native expertise, 
such as IFRS implementation, 
and the application of IFRS 
to Islamic finance. We also 
promote and advocate global 
trends such as Integrated 
Reporting <IR>.

As we go forward, we hope 
to entrench our position 
as an exemplary member 
of IFAC and an exemplary 
PAO that is instrumental 
in developing the nation 
through accountancy. 
Although there are 
many challenges and 
opportunities ahead, 
we have great optimism, 
passion and confidence 
that we will be able to 
strengthen the Institute 
to provide excellent 
stewardship, leadership 
and a greater value 
proposition to all our 
members and stakeholders, 
guided by our values 
and culture of integrity, 
accountability and trust.  
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QCSAP is a 
game-changer 
for MIA and 
the profession. 

How is MIA building upon 
CSAP recommendations 
to deliver value? 

AThe report from 
the Government’s 
CSAP was an 
opportune 

window for us to look back, 
measure our strengths and 
weaknesses, and chart our 
way forward. From the outset, 
MIA accepted that the CSAP 
report did a stellar job in 
analysing the deficiencies 
of the ecosystem and the 
Institute, and it put forth 15 
excellent recommendations. 

Since the report was issued 
and even before a formal 
CSAP implementation 
committee was formed, 
MIA had taken the initiative 
to craft our plans in response 
to these recommendations. 
For example, the upcoming 
Competency Framework 
answers the CSAP’s 
recommendation for 
talent development, 
and the SMP Roadmap 
supports the growth of 

CEO strategic Q&A

CEO Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan discusses 
how MIA has embraced CSAP to better deliver 
on its overarching vision of building the nation.

Answering
Key Questions

SMPs that are integral 
to Malaysian business. 
Embedded within our plans 
are our critical strategic 
objectives: developing the 
capacity and competency 
of talent, uplifting quality, 
and supporting nation 
building. Furthermore, 
we are crafting our  
2018-2030 Strategic Plan 
to ensure the continuity 
and sustainability of our 
initiatives. The Strategic 
Plan will serve as an anchor 
to our vision of developing 
the profession and support 
nation building.

Looking ahead, the CSAP 
implementation committee 
is in its final deliberations 
and MIA welcomes further 
enhancements to the 
accountancy profession 
and ecosystem.

QHow is MIA 
heightening 
enforcement 
in response to 

CSAP recommendations?

AUnder the 
Accountants 
Act 1967, MIA 
is entrusted to 

regulate the accountancy 
profession to ensure integrity 
and accountability, which in 
turn engenders public trust 

and confidence in the 
financial ecosystem.

The CSAP report highlighted 
shortcomings in our processes 
and structures that weakened 
governance, and MIA 
has moved to eradicate 
these and strengthen our 
enforcement and surveillance 
framework. Critically, we 
appointed an experienced 
prosecutor to our newly-
created position of Executive 
Director – Surveillance and 
Enforcement. This new position 
signals MIA’s determination 
to tighten our enforcement 
and we will give no quarter 
to accountants and non-
accountants who purposely 
flout the Act and its related 
rules and bylaws. 

Our head enforcer has 
instituted efficient changes 
to speed up investigative 
and disciplinary procedures 
– such as Practice Review 
– within the current scope 
of the Act. His division is 
working closely with the 
Companies Commission 
of Malaysia to combat the 
scourge of bogus accountants. 
Other milestones include 
the completed revision 
and adoption of enhanced 
SOPs benchmarked to 
ISOs for surveillance 
and enforcement. 

MIA trusts that our 
renewed determination 
to enforce the law will 
compel all accountants in 
the ecosystem to behave 
ethically and in compliance 
with the Act. This in turn 
will foster a reassuring 
climate of confidence 
and trust in accountants 
and finance which 
supports market and 
business development. 

14
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Our strategy in action

We realised our strategies 
through 3 key initiatives during 
the financial year 2016/2017:

GST
MIA International 
Accountants Conference
MyPAC

Sharing
Value

QCSAP discusses 
the necessity of 
building up the 
capacity and 

competency of accountants 
to support national 
development. How is 
MIA doing so?

AOne of our major 
projects over the 
past year is our 
Competency 

Framework, which brings 
clarity to talent development 
by mapping qualifications 
and skillsets at all levels and 
functions of the accountancy 
profession. Once finalised, 
the Competency Framework 
will not only develop talent, 
but ensures that accountants 
will be matched more 
accurately to market demand. 
For example, we anticipate 
significant technological 
disruption; our framework 
addresses how to equip 
accountants with requisite 
skills like data analytics. 
Related to this is the CFO 
Competency Framework 
that maps out the required 
qualifications and skills to 
optimise the finance function. 
By clarifying the diversity 
of talent requirements, 
it will be easier for MIA to 
develop talent effectively 
and deliver the targets set 
by PEMANDU. 

QHow has MIA 
restructured its 
internal processes 
and structures 

to achieve CSAP’s goals?

ACSAP’s 
recommendations 
create tremendous 
expectations, 

and MIA has had to 
prepare our management 
and talent to become 
more agile and adaptable. 
We have restructured our 
organisational structure, 
recruited relevant talent, 

and plan to invest in new 
management information 
systems to support ongoing 
digitalisation. Importantly, 
we have empowered our 
people, and delegated 
ownership of these new 
initiatives post-CSAP to 
tap latent talents and 
bolster succession planning. 
We haven’t just mapped 
out competencies and 
prospects for the accountants 
under our watch; we are 
doing the same for our 
valued people who are 
the ones delivering on the 
vision to build accountancy 
and the nation. 
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Supporting the
Government

GST
MIA plays a key role 
in education and 
engagement to support 
the implementation 
of Malaysia’s Goods 
and Services Tax (GST), 
which aims to diversify 
the country’s tax revenue 
base and strengthen 
its fiscal profile despite 
economic headwinds. 
Critically, revenues from 
GST have successfully 
reduced Malaysia’s 
dependence on corporate 
taxes and petroleum 
taxes in an environment 
of plunging oil prices, 
and will help the 
Government to 
better manage its 
budget deficit.

Our strategy in action

16
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GST specialists  
trained by MIA 

3,193

Effective 1st April 
2015, GST will 
have been in place 
for more than two 

years. The Royal Malaysian 
Customs Department 
(RMCD) as the regulator 
and enforcer of GST has 
successfully collected 
RM41.2 billion in GST 
for 2016 and targets 
GST revenue collection 
of RM42 billion for 2017. 
As of January 2017, 
approximately 431,000 
companies are registered 
under the GST tax system.

revenues are channelled 
to support national 
development in the 
public interest. We also 
work to build up the 
capacity and competency 
of talent working within 
the taxation and GST 
ecosystem, enabling 
GST management and 
compliance to function 
smoothly, and opening 
doors to new career 
opportunities for MIA  
members as GST consultants.

In line with our smart 
partnership model, 
MIA works collaboratively 
with the RMCD to educate 
and engage stakeholders 
and ensure compliance 
with the GST Act 2014. 
Pre-implementation of 
GST, MIA’s objective was 
to create and heighten 
awareness of GST and 
to train qualified GST 
consultants to support 
RMCD in the implementation 
phase of GST in the country. 
Post-implementation, 
our objective is to educate 
stakeholders on compliance 
and enforcement, with 
the end-goal of ensuring 
Malaysia’s fiscal sustainability 
through tax compliance. 
Ignorance is not a valid 
defence, hence MIA is 
educating businesses –  
especially under-resourced 
SMEs and SMPs – to 
understand and comply 
with record-keeping and 
systemic requirements 
and better manage their 
GST risks. 

As the national accountancy 
body, MIA is naturally the 
country’s thought leader 
and influencer on taxation 
matters. Our stance is to 
support tax compliance, 
ensuring that stakeholders 
understand the importance 
of paying the right amount 
of tax and that these 

Key GST events 
and workshops
From 2012 – 2013, 
MIA in partnership with 
the RMCD organised the 
“Goods & Services Tax 
(GST) – A Preparatory 
Course for GST Consultants 
and Accountants”. This was 
a 10-day course, with 
3 days’ revision and 
1 day’s examination. 
From 2014 onwards, 
the course was improved 
and condensed to 6 days 
of training and 1 day 
of examinations.

To date, MIA has successfully 
trained and certified 3,193 
GST Specialists supporting 
the business community in 
adopting GST implementation.

For 2016/2017, MIA 
delivered 156 seminars 
and workshops nationwide 
on GST topics, including 
the series of 6-day GST 
Preparatory Course, 
organised in collaboration 
with the RMCD and 
drawing over 6,000 
attendees, the majority 
of whom were members 
from public practice.

As a member of the GST 
Technical Committee 
of RMCD, MIA has been 
actively engaging and 
contributing inputs related 
to GST matters to RMCD. 
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GST Outreach  
Nationwide  

GST education and certification programme – the journey

2010
• 26 programmes

• 1,127 participants

1st April 2015
GST Implementation

2012
• 369 programmes

• 20,629 participants

30th June 2017
• 436 programmes

• 15,435 participants

Awareness Pre-Implementation Post-Implementation

Central Region

500
programmes

19,298
participants

1,971
GST Specialists

Southern Region

110
programmes

5,974
participants

357
GST Specialists

Northern Region

91
programmes

4,717
participants

519
GST Specialists

18

#NATIONBUILDING



Sarawak

66
programmes

3,199
participants

198
GST Specialists

Sabah

64
programmes

4,003
participants

148
GST Specialists

 19
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Outcome and 
Impact in 2016
• 2,930 Delegates

• 67 Speakers

• 77% Satisfied Participants

• 35 Media publicised 
the event

Key 
Takeaways
• The region’s – and 

perhaps the world’s – 
largest professional 
development event for 
accountants, reaching 
nearly 3,000 delegates

• Delivers 2 days of 
concentrated content 
on developments 
relevant to the profession 
to build competency 
and capacity

• Brings together more than 
60 globally recognised 
leaders and local 
experts from business, 
the profession and 
the public sector on 
a platform of quality 
professional development

• Distinctive, established 
branding and sponsorship 
platform for MIA 
stakeholders and partners

• Promotes relationship 
building, networking, 
diversity and inclusiveness 
by attracting delegates 
from 50 countries 

The theme of the 
MIA International 
Accountants 
Conference 2017 

is Expanding Horizons, 
Be Future Relevant to be 
held from 7-8 November 
at the Kuala Lumpur 
Convention Centre. 

delegates attended  
in 2016

2,930

participants enjoy 
tremendous networking 
benefits, while sponsors 
and partners gain extensive 
brand-building and 
marketing opportunities.  

The Conference drives 
market recognition of 
MIA for quality professional 
development education. 
MIA won the Human 
Resource Minister’s 
Award for its exceptional 
contribution to human 
resources development in 
Malaysia in 2012 and the 
National Conference for 
Exellence award at the 
Recognising Award Winning 
Results (rAWr) Awards 2013. 

World Congress of 
Accountants 2010 
– A rare opportunity 
enjoyed by Malaysia
In 2010, MIA collaborated 
with the International 
Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC) to host the 18th World 
Congress of Accountants 
(WCOA), the foremost 
international event for the 
accountancy profession. 
IFAC’s choice of Malaysia 
as host signalled the 
trust and confidence of 
the global accountancy 
profession in the high 
professional standing of 
the Malaysian accountancy  
profession.

Themed “Accountants: 
Sustaining Value Creation,” 
the inaugural WCOA 
in Malaysia brought 
together close to 200 
eminent speakers and 
a record-breaking 6,000 
delegates from diverse 
international markets. 

The theme focuses on 
opportunities and risks 
from digital disruption, 
and how accountants 
should respond. 2016’s 
theme was Strengthening 
the Profession for a 
Sustainable Future. 
This year, the Conference 
targets 3,000 delegates 
or more, up from 2016’s 
2,930 delegates.

The current branding 
as the MIA International 
Accountants Conference 
conveys its increasingly 
international profile, 
with 60 internationally and 
locally renowned speakers 
from various sectors sharing 
diverse insights that can 
be taken away by the 3,000 
delegates to enhance their 
performance and add 
value in their home 
markets. Conference 

20
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Our strategy in action

Connecting MIA
International 
Accountants 
Conference
The MIA International 
Accountants Conference 
is one of the world’s 
largest accounting 
conferences, delivering 
intensive professional 
development content 
over two days to right-
skill people for the 
profession, the country, 
and the world. 
Managed by MIA’s own 
team, this conference 
has grown to an 
intimidating size, 
unthreatened by any 
regional competition. 
First launched as the 
National Accountants 
Conference in 1985, 
the conference was 
rebranded as the 
MIA International 
Accountants Conference 
in 2011. In 2010, MIA 
worked with the IFAC to 
host the World Congress 
of Accountants (WCOA) 
in Kuala Lumpur.

People
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MyPAC
MyPAC’s programme provided 
not only financial aid and 
structured tuition support, 
but also the motivation 
and sharing sessions which 
encouraged me to complete 
my professional exams. I aim 
to be a CA who can inspire 
youngsters to push themselves 
beyond their limits. 

Our strategy in action

Enhancing
Participation,
Fostering Industry

Hanis Amirah Mohamed Padzir (ACCA) 
Senior Accountant,  
National Marine Dredging Company (Abu Dhabi) 
MyPAC ACCA Last Miler, July 2016
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MIA is committed 
to doubling the 
number of 
Bumiputera 

Professional Accountants 
(BPA) to approximately 
3,000 by 2020, through 
the Malaysia Professional 
Accountancy Centre (MyPAC). 
MyPAC is a non-profit 
organisation formed in 
January 2015, based on 
a proposal by MIA to the 
Bumiputera Economic 
Council. This is our response 
to recommendations from 
the Committee to Strengthen 
the Accountancy Profession 
(CSAP) to boost the talent 
pool and enrich the 
Bumiputera community by 
drawing more Bumiputeras 
to accountancy.

Although Bumiputeras 
account for approximately 
70% of the Malaysian 
population, BPAs are few 
in number. Out of MIA’s 
membership of 33,294, 
approximately 20,000  
hold diverse professional 
qualifications but only 
1,658 or 8% are BPAs. 
By accelerating the 
development of BPAs, we 
can uplift the Bumiputera 
community, produce more 
accountancy professionals 
to meet market demand, 
and foster a more equitable 
and inclusive society for 
the benefit of all citizens.

To achieve the target of 
3,000, MyPAC works primarily 
with the International 
Professional Accountancy 
Centre (IPAC). MyPAC 
brought in BPP as their 
Technical Partner to create 
a systematic training model 
at IPAC which has proven to 
be extraordinarily successful. 
As an Association of Chartered 
Certified  Accountants 
(ACCA) training centre, 
IPAC has achieved stellar 
passing rates, up to 46% 
above the global ACCA 
passing rate, produced 
several ACCA prize winners, 
and attained gold status as 
an ACCA learning partner, 
all within a period of less 
than two years. IPAC is 
targeting ACCA platinum 
status by the end of 2017. 
Apart from taking in fresh 
graduates from schools and 
universities, a key strategy 
is to convert last-milers, 
students who previously 
failed their professional 
exams and might have to 
sit just one or two papers 
more to qualify as BPAs.

Since it was established, 
MyPAC has produced a total 
of 112 BPAs. For 2017/2018, 
MyPAC is targeting to produce 
266 BPAs. Thanks to extensive 
coverage in the media, 
MyPAC attracted 6,000 
applications for 600 places 
in one of its programmes. 

MyPAC’s secret to success is 
to overcome the prevailing 
weaknesses handicapping 
Bumiputera students, such 
as poverty, poor English, 
low self-esteem and the 
mindset that professional 
exams are difficult through 
generous financial aid, 
remedial English programmes, 
and intensive counselling. 
Although MyPAC applications 

are open to all, priority is 
given to the disadvantaged 
for whom a professional 
accountancy qualification 
can be a social and economic 
game changer.    

To ensure MyPAC’s long-term 
sustainability, we collaborate 
closely with influential 
stakeholders. Key sponsors 
and organisations such as 
Yayasan Peneraju Pendidikan 
Bumiputera and Permodalan 
Nasional Berhad provide 
funding. We partner with 
professional bodies such 
as ACCA, ICAEW, MICPA, 
and CPA Australia to 
leverage on their professional 
qualifications and training 
for BPAs. We work closely 
with leading employers 
in commerce, industry 
and public practice to 
achieve a remarkable 
100% employment rate 
for our BPAs post-qualifying. 

We at MIA are euphoric 
over MyPAC’s early success 
because we are transforming 
lives for the better and 
inspiring optimism for the 
future. Our former MIA 
Vice President and the 
current CEO of MyPAC, 
Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan, 
an accomplished accountant 
and corporate leader, 
describes MyPAC as her 
most satisfying achievement 
ever because we are 
catalysing social change. 
We hope our BPAs 
will go on to be game 
changers for their families 
and role models for youth 
and society. 

MIA members 
are BPAs

1,658
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Market outlook and megatrends

Economy
Globalisation

Society 
Millennials

Description
• Despite rising protectionism and nationalism, 

globalisation, interconnectedness and 
openness typify the profession

• MIA’s stance is likewise outward-looking 
and progressive, benchmarking against 
global standards and practices to 
optimise competitiveness

Opportunities 
• Open markets and porous borders pave 

the way for trade and talent mobility

• Abundant prospects await competent 
and capable accountancy professionals 
benchmarked to global standards

Risks
• Incompetent accountants  

become irrelevant to business  
and society

Response
• Upskill accountancy professionals to become 

more globally competitive

• Advocate ethics, professional practices and 
standards calibrated to global benchmarks 
to raise competency and trust 

• Champion mutual recognition agreements 
and ASEAN CPA registration 

• Strengthen global and regional relationships 
and networks 

Description
• Millennials are the largest cohort of 

talent in today’s workplace, and their 
attitudes and values are reshaping work 
and enterprise

• The profession must adapt to attract and 
retain millennial talent 

Opportunities 
• Engage millennials to attract them to the 

accountancy profession, and bridge the 
talent deficit

• Embed technology and reassess processes 
and systems to become more adaptable 
and efficient

Risks
• Malaysian millennials may be accustomed  

to a culture of complacency, which may result 
in them being less globally competitive

• Malaysian millennials lack the expected 
skills and attitudes, exacerbating the 
talent deficit  

Response
• Position accountancy as the profession 

of choice to attract more millennials

• Train accountancy educators to improve 
the quality of accountancy education

Advance and enhance the status 
(professionalism, competency 
and ethics) of members and the 
accountancy profession in Malaysia

2

Strategic objectives Strategic objectives 

Understanding
Accountancy

Develop and regulate (further, drive, lead, 
ensure) the practice of the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia consistent with 
global standards and best practices

3

41521

Develop and enhance the competency 
and capacity of accountancy 
professionals to meet market demand

1
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Technology
Digital Disruption 

What keeps MIA awake at night? Below are some of the most 
pressing risks and opportunities challenging the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia, and our responses.

Politics and regulation
Changing regulations 

Description
• Numerous regulatory revisions and 

new codes and legislation have created 
a complex and volatile regulatory 
landscape in Malaysia and the world

• Although compliance is challenging, 
it fuels good behaviour and sustainability

Opportunities 
• Compliance drives higher-quality 

accountancy and auditing services, 
enhancing integrity and trust  

• Auditors and accountancy professionals 
are uniquely positioned to provide 
assurance, compliance and financial 
advisory services that upgrade 
business performance

Risks
• Non-compliance and poor enforcement 

degrade the perception and reputation 
of the profession and Malaysia 

Response
• Strengthen our regulatory environment 

and enforcement to improve compliance  

• Provide technical guidance and enforce 
mandatory CPE to educate members 
on compliance

• Propose reforms to the Accountants 
Act 1967 to strengthen MIA’s powers 
of regulation and enforcement

Description
• Digitalisation is transforming the economy and 

business models, with a profound impact on 
accountants and auditors

• Changing business models require corresponding 
shifts in accounting and auditing thought 
processes, standards, and systems

Opportunities 
• Data analytics enables faster, more secure and 

more accurate processing, analysis and 
interpretation of larger volumes of information, 
facilitating real-time auditing and supporting 
decision making

Risks
• Routine transactions will become increasingly 

automated, and therefore accountants will 
need to acquire critical thinking, interpersonal 
and soft skills to avoid becoming obsolete

Response
• Future-proof accountants via tech- and  

digital-oriented professional development 

• Encourage and support SMEs and SMPs to 
adopt technology and improve efficiency

• Partner tech companies like the Asian Data Analytics 
Exchange (ADAX) to deliver CPE on data analytics

• Initiate an automated MIA platform facilitating 
bank confirmations for auditors

• Expand our digital footprint and improve 
member satisfaction through the MIA Membership 
Information System (MMIS)   

Promote accountancy as a profession 
of choice

4 Well-governed organisation with good 
talent management, operational and 
financial sustainability

5

Strategic objectives Strategic objectives 

1 2 3 51 3

24  25

 MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS INTEGRATED REPORT 2017



1Our 
resources

Driven by our purpose: 

Guided by our values: 
Aligning direction through strong governance: See pages 28 – 31

Business model

Creating
Value

Leveraging on our capitals

Financial capitals
• Membership fees

• Income from CPE events 
and conferences

• Retained earnings

• Government grants

Intellectual capitals
• Standards and regulations

• Technical guidance

• Publications and research

Human capital
• Council, Management and 

Internal talent

• Committee and task force members

Social and relationship capital
• Strong ties with Ministry of Finance

• Collaboration with regulatory bodies

• Partnership with statutory 
and accountancy bodies and 
other organisations

• Collaboration with accountancy 
firms, professional bodies, 
educational institutions, corporates 
and other organisations

2What 
we do

Enhancing competency of 
accountancy professionals 
in Malaysia

Membership & Operations
(see more at Reviewing  
Performance pp 40)

Strategy & Development
(see more at Reviewing  
Performance pp 44)

Professional Practices 
& Technical
(see more at Reviewing  
Performance pp 48)

Surveillance & Enforcement
(see more at Reviewing  
Performance pp 52)

3How 
we do it

Addressing the market outlook 
and trends

SO1
Develop and enhance the 
competency and capacity of 
accountancy professionals to 
meet market demand

SO2
Advance and enhance the status 
(professionalism, competency 
and ethics) of members and the 
accountancy profession in Malaysia

SO3
Develop and regulate (further, 
drive, lead, ensure) the practice 
of the accountancy profession in 
Malaysia consistent with global 
standards and best practices

SO4
Promote accountancy as a 
profession of choice

SO5
Well-governed organisation 
with good talent management, 
operational and financial  
sustainability

#NATIONBUILDING
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MIA collaborates strategically with our partners 
and stakeholders to expand the nation’s talent pool 
of highly skilled and ethical accountancy professionals. 

Nation building 

IMPACTS 

4Our key 
outputs

Fuelling the profession 
with adequate and 
professional knowledge, 
ethics and technology

33,294 
Members

RM38.35 million 
Revenue

968
CPE programmes

35,800 
Professionals trained

91
Complaints resolved

43
Publications/technical  
articles

427
Technical enquiries  
answered

5 The 
outcomes

Benefitting our stakeholders 
– nation building as the 
ultimate goal

Public trust
Profession supports the 
economy, public interest 
and market confidence 

Economy
Profession influences 
economic policy 

Nurturing talent
Developing human capital 
internally and externally 
across the profession 

Governance
Implementing ethics, 
standards and  professional 
best practices

Sustainability
Advocating sustainability 
through compliance 
and value creation 
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Strategic objectives

SO1 Develop and enhance 
the competency and capacity 
of accountancy professionals 
to meet market demand

Grew membership to a total of 33,294 in 2017

Collaborated with accountancy bodies and firms 
to deliver training to accountancy educators

Worked with universities and government 
agencies to improve accountancy education 
quality, mirroring international standards and 
developments and the Government’s blueprint 
for higher education

Complete the Competency Framework to 
articulate baseline competencies and 
market expectations

Complete our 2018-2030 Strategic Blueprint 
to steer our vision for accountancy and 
national development 

Strengthen CPE programmes to upskill and 
reskill the accountancy fraternity

Expand outreach with schools and universities 
and extend CARE Ambassadorship coverage 
to more institutions

Membership and Operations

Professional Practices and Technical

Strategy and Development

SO2 Advance and enhance the 
status (professionalism, competency 
and ethics) of members and the 
accountancy profession in Malaysia

Provided technical guidance and support for 
implementation of standards and professional 
practices and impact of new regulations on the 
accountancy profession

Introduced the MIA Digital Membership Privilege Card

Shifted to the exclusive digitally-connected address 
of Bangsar South, apropos to MIA’s positioning as 
forward- and outward-looking developer and 
regulator of the accountancy profession

MIA members accepted for registration as 
ASEAN CPAs and subsequently as Registered 
Foreign Professional Accountants in other 
ASEAN member states

SMP roadmap implementation progress  
i.e. core audit training and QAP in partnership 
with The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (MICPA)

Enhance coverage and quality of technical 
guidance and support

Expand privileges and benefits of the 
MIA Digital Membership Privilege Card

Explore further benefits and opportunities 
arising from mutual recognition 

Continue SMP roadmap implementation 
through QAP, training on Illustrative Working 
Paper and technology adoption

Professional Practices and Technical 

Membership and Operations

Planning
Strategy

Strategic objectives Progress highlights

2

1

Membership 
& Operations

Strategy &  
Development

Professional 
Practice 

& Technical

Surveillance &  
Enforcement
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SO1 Develop and enhance 
the competency and capacity 
of accountancy professionals 
to meet market demand

Grew membership to a total of 33,294 in 2017

Collaborated with accountancy bodies and firms 
to deliver training to accountancy educators

Worked with universities and government 
agencies to improve accountancy education 
quality, mirroring international standards and 
developments and the Government’s blueprint 
for higher education

Complete the Competency Framework to 
articulate baseline competencies and 
market expectations

Complete our 2018-2030 Strategic Blueprint 
to steer our vision for accountancy and 
national development 

Strengthen CPE programmes to upskill and 
reskill the accountancy fraternity

Expand outreach with schools and universities 
and extend CARE Ambassadorship coverage 
to more institutions

Membership and Operations

Professional Practices and Technical

Strategy and Development

SO2 Advance and enhance the 
status (professionalism, competency 
and ethics) of members and the 
accountancy profession in Malaysia

Provided technical guidance and support for 
implementation of standards and professional 
practices and impact of new regulations on the 
accountancy profession

Introduced the MIA Digital Membership Privilege Card

Shifted to the exclusive digitally-connected address 
of Bangsar South, apropos to MIA’s positioning as 
forward- and outward-looking developer and 
regulator of the accountancy profession

MIA members accepted for registration as 
ASEAN CPAs and subsequently as Registered 
Foreign Professional Accountants in other 
ASEAN member states

SMP roadmap implementation progress  
i.e. core audit training and QAP in partnership 
with The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (MICPA)

Enhance coverage and quality of technical 
guidance and support

Expand privileges and benefits of the 
MIA Digital Membership Privilege Card

Explore further benefits and opportunities 
arising from mutual recognition 

Continue SMP roadmap implementation 
through QAP, training on Illustrative Working 
Paper and technology adoption

Professional Practices and Technical 

Membership and Operations

Our Strategic Objectives and Action Plan are irrevocably 
linked to our agenda of building a strong, ethical and 
respected profession and producing 60,000 accountancy 
professionals by 2020 to support national and economic 
development in line with PEMANDU’s aspiration. 

Priorities for 2017/2018 Business units involved
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Strategic objectives
Planning  
Strategy

SO3 Develop and regulate 
(furthering, drive, lead, ensure) 
the practice of the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia consistent 
with global standards and  
best practices 

Strengthened the regulatory and enforcement 
processes and systems, including revamping 
MIA Practice Review to improve audit quality 
and imposing mandatory CPE hours and  
CPE audits

Ensured compliance with standards, regulations, 
professional and best practices to enhance 
competency and quality 

Advocated <IR> to improve quality and utility 
of corporate reporting and articulation of 
business value and capitals

Encouraged digitalisation and technology 
adoption to future-proof the profession

Expand and strengthen the investigative 
and disciplinary functions to improve 
regulation and enforcement

Propose amendments to the Accountants  
Act 1967 to ensure the utility and relevance 
of legislation 

Strengthen compliance advocacy

Provide increased advocacy and support for 
adoption of Integrated Reporting

Drive the widespread adoption of technology 
and data analytics among the accountancy 
fraternity in response to market expectations

Surveillance and Enforcement

Professional Practices and Technical

SO4 Promote accountancy as a 
profession of choice

Engaged with youth and partnered schools 
and institutes of higher learning to position 
accountancy as a preferred profession

Developed the Strategic Communications Plan 
to brand MIA as the regulator and developer 
of the Accountancy Profession

Ramp up engagement efforts to attract fresh 
talent and build the talent pipeline

Execute the Strategic Communications Plan

Membership and Operations

Strategy and Development

SO5 Well-governed organisation 
with good talent management, 
operational and financial sustainability

Restructured the Institute’s operations and 
functions to improve efficiency and effectiveness

CPE generated RM24.82 million in revenue 
to support financial sustainability and fund 
Institute activities

Embrace digitalisation and raise member 
satisfaction through the new MIA Membership 
Information System

Empower, develop and reward talent to 
improve performance and retention

Strengthen CPE as the Institute’s main 
revenue generator 

Membership and Operations

Strategy and Development

5

4

3

Strategic objectives Progress highlights

Membership 
& Operations

Strategy &  
Development

Professional 
Practice 

& Technical

Surveillance &  
Enforcement
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We collaborate closely with our partners and 
stakeholders and align our plans and actions with 
the 15 recommendations laid out by the CSAP and 
our upcoming 2018-2030 Strategic Blueprint.

SO3 Develop and regulate 
(furthering, drive, lead, ensure) 
the practice of the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia consistent 
with global standards and  
best practices 

Strengthened the regulatory and enforcement 
processes and systems, including revamping 
MIA Practice Review to improve audit quality 
and imposing mandatory CPE hours and  
CPE audits

Ensured compliance with standards, regulations, 
professional and best practices to enhance 
competency and quality 

Advocated <IR> to improve quality and utility 
of corporate reporting and articulation of 
business value and capitals

Encouraged digitalisation and technology 
adoption to future-proof the profession

Expand and strengthen the investigative 
and disciplinary functions to improve 
regulation and enforcement

Propose amendments to the Accountants  
Act 1967 to ensure the utility and relevance 
of legislation 

Strengthen compliance advocacy

Provide increased advocacy and support for 
adoption of Integrated Reporting

Drive the widespread adoption of technology 
and data analytics among the accountancy 
fraternity in response to market expectations

Surveillance and Enforcement

Professional Practices and Technical

SO4 Promote accountancy as a 
profession of choice

Engaged with youth and partnered schools 
and institutes of higher learning to position 
accountancy as a preferred profession

Developed the Strategic Communications Plan 
to brand MIA as the regulator and developer 
of the Accountancy Profession

Ramp up engagement efforts to attract fresh 
talent and build the talent pipeline

Execute the Strategic Communications Plan

Membership and Operations

Strategy and Development

SO5 Well-governed organisation 
with good talent management, 
operational and financial sustainability

Restructured the Institute’s operations and 
functions to improve efficiency and effectiveness

CPE generated RM24.82 million in revenue 
to support financial sustainability and fund 
Institute activities

Embrace digitalisation and raise member 
satisfaction through the new MIA Membership 
Information System

Empower, develop and reward talent to 
improve performance and retention

Strengthen CPE as the Institute’s main 
revenue generator 

Membership and Operations

Strategy and Development

Priorities for 2017/2018 Business units involved
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Material ESG factors Description
What are the 
opportunities? What are the risks?

How do these relate 
to stakeholders?

Governance  
and Ethics

As a proponent of high-quality standards, governance and ethics, 
MIA strives to uphold the integrity of the profession to build trust and 
confidence in the public and private sectors

Good governance across the 
public and private sectors curb 
leakages, combats corruption 
and strengthens the economy 
and society

Aligns economy and society with 
best practices, ethics, and quality 
to climb up the value and 
competency chains

Poor governance worsens 
corruption, demoralises talent, 
erodes productivity, destroys 
business value and competitiveness, 
and incurs reputational and 
social risks

Good governance fuels members’ 
reputation, public trust, assurance 
for capital markets and regulators, 
and confidence in the public sector 
and government

Financial  
Literacy

Better financial literacy and inclusion lead to more informed and mature 
businesses and society, and eventually the coveted status of high-income 
developed nation

Educate businesses to 
improve financial reporting 
and provide assurance to 
their stakeholders: the public, 
markets, investors, regulators 

Government is assured of 
collecting the right amount of 
tax, based on accurate financial 
reporting and tax returns

Articulate business value to 
the investing public through 
advocacy of Integrated Reporting

Weak financial literacy dampens 
business competitiveness and 
access to capital and finance 

Poor tax compliance worsens 
fiscal management and the 
budget deficit

Improved financial literacy 
and inclusion enable better 
fiscal management and public 
service delivery

Investors and the public are able 
to make better investing decisions, 
leading to a more vibrant and 
sustainable capital market

Regional and  
Global Influence

MIA communicates its stance and concerns through its membership 
in global and regional accountancy bodies – IFAC and AFA, bilateral 
relationships with other national accountancy bodies, and its collaboration 
with agencies such as the World Bank

Highlight emerging areas where 
the Institute can contribute 
and brand Malaysia’s distinctive 
edge e.g. IFRS applications 
to Islamic finance, and sharing 
of IFRS implementation and 
GST experience

Lack of visibility means 
MIA and Malaysia risk being 
sidelined from global and 
regional discussions

MIA and Malaysia have the 
opportunity to lead, contribute 
and shape the regional and 
international discourse on 
standards, literacy, governance 
and Islamic finance, supporting 
recognition and reputation

Sustainability MIA’s financial and organisational sustainability empower it to develop 
and regulate a sustainable profession for sustainable nation building

Strengthen our business model 
and the accountancy ecosystem, 
so we can deliver increased 
and improved services.

Weak sustainability hampers 
our engagement, development 
and regulation efforts

Better sustainability lets us 
engage across diverse sectors 
and with multiple stakeholders to 
provide guidance, development 
and enforcement, and enhance 
competency and governance

Material ESG issues

Prioritising
Issues
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Material ESG factors Description
What are the 
opportunities? What are the risks?

How do these relate 
to stakeholders?

Governance  
and Ethics

As a proponent of high-quality standards, governance and ethics, 
MIA strives to uphold the integrity of the profession to build trust and 
confidence in the public and private sectors

Good governance across the 
public and private sectors curb 
leakages, combats corruption 
and strengthens the economy 
and society

Aligns economy and society with 
best practices, ethics, and quality 
to climb up the value and 
competency chains

Poor governance worsens 
corruption, demoralises talent, 
erodes productivity, destroys 
business value and competitiveness, 
and incurs reputational and 
social risks

Good governance fuels members’ 
reputation, public trust, assurance 
for capital markets and regulators, 
and confidence in the public sector 
and government

Financial  
Literacy

Better financial literacy and inclusion lead to more informed and mature 
businesses and society, and eventually the coveted status of high-income 
developed nation

Educate businesses to 
improve financial reporting 
and provide assurance to 
their stakeholders: the public, 
markets, investors, regulators 

Government is assured of 
collecting the right amount of 
tax, based on accurate financial 
reporting and tax returns

Articulate business value to 
the investing public through 
advocacy of Integrated Reporting

Weak financial literacy dampens 
business competitiveness and 
access to capital and finance 

Poor tax compliance worsens 
fiscal management and the 
budget deficit

Improved financial literacy 
and inclusion enable better 
fiscal management and public 
service delivery

Investors and the public are able 
to make better investing decisions, 
leading to a more vibrant and 
sustainable capital market

Regional and  
Global Influence

MIA communicates its stance and concerns through its membership 
in global and regional accountancy bodies – IFAC and AFA, bilateral 
relationships with other national accountancy bodies, and its collaboration 
with agencies such as the World Bank

Highlight emerging areas where 
the Institute can contribute 
and brand Malaysia’s distinctive 
edge e.g. IFRS applications 
to Islamic finance, and sharing 
of IFRS implementation and 
GST experience

Lack of visibility means 
MIA and Malaysia risk being 
sidelined from global and 
regional discussions

MIA and Malaysia have the 
opportunity to lead, contribute 
and shape the regional and 
international discourse on 
standards, literacy, governance 
and Islamic finance, supporting 
recognition and reputation

Sustainability MIA’s financial and organisational sustainability empower it to develop 
and regulate a sustainable profession for sustainable nation building

Strengthen our business model 
and the accountancy ecosystem, 
so we can deliver increased 
and improved services.

Weak sustainability hampers 
our engagement, development 
and regulation efforts

Better sustainability lets us 
engage across diverse sectors 
and with multiple stakeholders to 
provide guidance, development 
and enforcement, and enhance 
competency and governance

The material factors affecting the Institute relate primarily 
to impacts on society and governance. As such, the 
ESG issues affecting the Institute are intangible and 
difficult to quantify, yet they clearly warrant inclusion 
and further discussion.
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Engaging
Stakeholders
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Members  

• Membership Survey
• Training programmes
• Complimentary talks
• e-Learning modules
• Evaluation forms
• e-Feedback and E-blast 
• CPE series
• Accountants Today
• MIA Digital Membership Privilege Card
• Discussion of both technical and 

non-technical matters
• Collaboration on key initiatives

• The 2016 MIA Membership 
Satisfaction Survey found 
approximately 78% of respondents 
are satisfied with the Institute and 
80.62% are proud to be associated 
with MIA.

• Provide praise, constructive 
criticism through e-feedback

• Requested more regional events
• Satisfied with training programmes
• Actively involved in discussion 

and collaboration

• Continue organising programmes 
of quality and ensure needs 
are met

• Consistently attend to complaints 
with action and solutions

• Organise more CPE training 
events at regional level

• Continue engaging members 
for discussion of both technical 
and non-technical matters

Regulators 

• Collaborate and 
engage with regulators 
on certain initiatives

• Comment on 
consultation papers 
issued by regulators

• Recognise our presence 
and consider our views 
and contribution

• Continue to participate 
actively in the 
development 
the accountancy 
profession

Government  

• Advocate for government 
to improve public 
financial management 
and service delivery 

• Engage on relevant 
issues such as accrual 
accounting, governance, 
education and taxation

• Establish Joint Technical 
Committee with 
Malaysian Qualifications 
Agency (MQA)

• Government recognises 
our contributions, 
advocacy and support

• Address the issues/
matters raised accordingly

• Through the Joint 
Technical Committee, 
we endeavour to achieve 
harmonisation in the 
accreditation exercise
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MIA communicates regularly with our stakeholders 
across multiple platforms and we practise collaborative 
leadership that considers everyone’s interests, where 
feasible and to the best of our ability.

Accountancy 
bodies

• Collaborate with global 
accountancy bodies to 
invest in and strengthen 
the profession 

• Initiatives include 
co-branded professional 
development courses, 
and co-branded Train 
the Trainer programmes

• Promote special pathways 
for MIA members

• Global bodies welcome 
more opportunities  
to collaborate on 
co-branded events

• Satisfied with partnerships 
that promote branding 
within MIA membership 
and the accountancy  
profession

• Seek more opportunities 
to enrich partnerships 
and grow collaboration  
opportunities

• Welcome requests and 
inquiries on partnership

• Establish win-win 
partnership terms

Accounting 
firms

• Provide a platform for 
accounting firms to discuss 
and deliberate issues, 
and offer guidance 
or consensus 

• Facilitate Practising 
Certificate applications, 
applications and renewals 
of audit licence, setting 
up of audit and non-audit 
firms and conversions 
to Limited Liability  
Partnerships

• Firms welcome a 
platform to resolve 
divergence and achieve 
consistent practices

• Firms, particularly SMPs, 
welcome extended 
support and initiatives 
to strengthen them in a 
challenging environment

• Maintain a platform for 
discussion and reducing 
divergence in practices

• Continue promoting 
ongoing initiatives 
and programmes, in 
alignment with the 
SMP Roadmap

Academicians 

• Offer public financial 
management advisory to 
universities and institutes 
of higher learning that 
are facing budget cuts 

• Research grants via the 
Malaysian Accountancy 
Research and Education 
Foundation (MAREF)

• CPE Training and Train 
the Trainer programmes 
specially designed for  
academia

• Held a special roundtable 
for academicians on 
how to commercialise 
their research and 
development activities

• Researchers welcomed 
the opportunity and 
funding for specialised 
accountancy projects

• Satisfied with CPE 
and Train the Trainer  
programmes 

• Brainstorm more solutions 
to help institutions of 
higher learning become 
more financially sustainable

• Continue devising 
opportunities to support  
research

• Conduct more events 
for academia and create 
more opportunities to 
upskill academicians 
through CPE and Train 
the Trainer programmes

Public 

• Publicise the risks of 
contracting bogus 
accounting services

• Offer a variety of non-
technical programmes at 
an affordable fee 

• Support the public 
through the establishment 
of Regional Offices in 
Johor, Northern Region, 
Sabah and Sarawak

• Public understands 
benefits of contracting 
genuine accounting  
services 

• Satisfied with the quality 
of training programmes

• Participation of non-
members has increased  
yearly

• Good take-up of regional  
services

• Continue upholding 
public trust and support 
members to improve the 
profession’s reputation

• Continue organising 
programmes of quality
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Our stakeholders
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Employees 

• Map out clear talent 
development pathways 
and succession planning 
to ensure talent retention 
and sustainability

• Employees welcome 
the management’s 
efforts to develop 
and empower them 

• Delegate more 
responsibility and 
enhance visibility 
of outperformers

• Assign mentors 
to guide and 
strengthen talent

Associations 

• Actively participate in the 
ASEAN Federation of 
Accountants (AFA)

• At global level, participate 
actively at IFAC meetings, 
and provide feedback on 
consultation papers to 
various international  
associations

• Collaborate with the 
International Integrated 
Reporting Council (IIRC) 
to create awareness of IR

• Recognise our presence 
at the regional and 
international level and 
consider our views and  
contribution

• Continue to participate 
actively in the development 
of the accountancy 
profession in the regional 
and international arena

Companies 

• Advocate Integrated Reporting 

• Customise in-house 
training programmes 

• Engage and solicit views from 
companies on the proposed 
Competency Framework 
for both the CFO and 
finance function

• Conduct awareness campaigns 
on MIA and C.A. (M) pathways 
at public listed companies

• 33 companies either have 
pledged to adopt or have 
adopted <IR> 

• Satisfied with in-house training 

• Companies actively contributed 
their views on the proposed 
Competency Framework

• Accounting teams at the targeted 
companies are aware of MIA, 
its roles and C.A. (M) pathways

• Continue engaging with companies 
and regulators to encourage 
take-up of Integrated Reporting

• Continue promoting other relevant 
customisable programmes that 
fit corporate needs

• Consider and incorporate 
companies’ views in the 
Competency Framework

• Continue building awareness 
of MIA and C.A. (M) 
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Media 

• Advocate for increased 
media coverage of 
issues pertinent to the 
accountancy profession

• Approach media for 
targeted publication 
of articles/ write-ups/
press releases and 
respond to media 
requests for interviews

• Media welcomed 
the compelling new 
narratives, and provided 
increased coverage of 
accountancy issues in 
their platforms

• Fine tune MIA’s  
strategic communications 
strategy and enlist 
media as partners in 
our drive to advocate 
for accountants as 
nation builders

Millennials 

• Attract youth by 
positioning accountancy 
as the career of choice.

• Work with schools and 
universities to interest 
youth in accounting 

• More youth are signing 
up for accountancy 
programmes

• Continue organising 
events like quizzes, 
conferences, competitions, 
awards, career talks, 
career fairs and 
awareness campaigns 
to attract youth

Sponsors & 
supporters

• Create avenues for 
branding, especially 
for key events and  
conferences

• Appreciate MIA’s 
platform for engaging 
and interacting with 
members and non-
members

• Consistently high take-up 
of these opportunities 
among regular and new 
sponsors and supporters

• Market creative value-
added packages to 
sustain the relationship

Subject matter 
experts

• Approach reputable 
partners and high-calibre 
speakers to jointly 
organise and facilitate 
CPE programmes

• Welcome opportunities 
to engage with participants 
and leverage MIA’s 
platform for branding

• Negotiate mutually 
beneficial engagement 
and partnership terms to 
attract and retain speakers 
and partners respectively

(Partners & speakers)
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Membership & Operations

The Membership and 
Operations Division is 
instrumental in shaping the 
capacity and competency 
of the profession. 

Shaping
the Future

Datin SK Yap 
Executive Director
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Throughout the 
past 20 years, we 
have steadily grown 
MIA membership at 

approximately 4% per annum 
(1,505 new members for  
FY 2016/2017), and we aim 
to continue to grow the 
membership in line with 
the Institute’s long term 
strategic plan.

Developing Members
Our growth initiatives include 
the Member Development 
Programme, where we 
collaborate with Professional 
Bodies and engage members 
to promote special pathways 
to professional qualifications, 
and we emphasise member 
satisfaction to attract and 
retain more accountancy 
professionals in the talent 
pipeline. One, our new MIA 
Digital Membership Privilege 
Card provides members 
with one-stop access via 
mobile to a slew of benefits 
and lifestyle privileges as 
well as updates on MIA 
news and developments. 
Two, we have moved to a 
highly-connected modern 
building which expedites 
MIA and the profession’s 
digitisation. Our new corporate 
office at Bangsar South 
is emerging as a hub for 
accountancy programmes, 
telegraphing MIA’s mounting 
influence in driving the 
profession in Malaysia. 

Three, we are upgrading to a 
new MMIS aimed at improving 
user experience, and the 
efficiency, effectiveness, 
responsiveness and security 
of the Institute’s data-heavy 
operations. 

Branding the 
Profession
To promote accountancy 
as the preferred profession, 
we emphasise initiatives 
to capture youth interest. 
We receive record turnouts 
and Malaysia’s youth are 
expressing growing interest 
in rewarding accounting 
careers through exposure 
to our lively collaborative 
co-branded events such as 
quizzes and career talks and 
fairs organised with schools 
and universities. 

Academicians are an effective 
motivator to inspire youth 
and to raise competency; 
therefore, we upskill them 
via the Train the Trainer 
programme in line with 
the Malaysia Education 
Blueprint 2015-2025. We 
collaborate with the Ministry 
of Higher Education (MOHE) 
to raise education quality 
standards, and we have 
formed a Joint Technical 
Committee with the Malaysian 
Qualifications Agency (MQA) 
to look into the accreditation 
process for professional 
qualifications. We are 
also developing the MIA 
Competency Framework 
to ensure that accountancy 
professionals meet baseline 
competencies as expected 
by employers and markets, 
in response to CSAP  
recommendations.

At the regional level, 
MIA continues to amass 
influence and brand 
Malaysia through our 
active participation in 

the AFA, specifically the 
AFA Working Committee on 
Adoption and Implementation 
of International Standards 
and the Working Committee 
on PAO Capacity Building. 
Furthering our commitment 
to regional talent and 
services mobility, Malaysia’s 
Assessment Statement to 
the ASEAN Coordinating 
Committee on Services 
and the ASEAN CPA 
Coordinating Committee 
was approved in May 2017. 
This paves the way for 
MIA members to be 
registered as ASEAN 
CPAs and subsequently 
to become Registered 
Foreign Professional 
Accountants in other 
ASEAN Member States, 
expanding our members’ 
prospects and marketability. 

Membership growth

4%
per annum 

No. of new members

1,505
FY2016/2017

MIA member 
satisfaction at 
approximately

78%
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As the backbone of 
the Institute, the 
Membership and 
Operations Division 

conscientiously nurtures the 
profession’s intellectual and 
human capital and maintains 
MIA’s sustainability.

Cultivating Talent
One of our central roles is to 
promote accountancy as the 
preferred profession through 
inclusive and diverse initiatives 
to expand the talent pipeline. 
Statistics show Malaysia 
currently has about 33,294 
accountants but aspires 
to have 60,000 by 2020. 
Accounting remains one of 
the most in-demand jobs 
but the number of students 
enrolling in accountancy in 
institutions of higher learning 
is falling, from a high of 6,102 
graduates in 2013 to 5,944 
in 2015. 

Recognising the importance 
of maintaining interest in the 
profession, we collaborate 
with schools and universities 
to attract new talent. Together, 
we organise nationwide 
accounting quizzes, career 
talks and accounting awards 
that open youthful eyes to 
the prospects of accountancy 

careers. Major events include 
the online MIA-Sunway TES 
Accounting Quiz and National 
Inter-College Accounting Quiz 
Competition, the Accounting 
Students Conference, the 
National Inter Varsity 
Accounting Quiz and the 
Best Accounting Students 
Award Ceremony. We are 
also committed to improving 
the quality of accounting 
education in Malaysia together 
with the Ministry of Higher 
Education and our Joint 
Technical Committee with 
the Malaysian Qualifications 
Agency to harmonise the 
accreditation process for 
professional qualifications. 
Through programmes such as 
MIA-ACCA Train the Trainer, 
MIA-CPA Workshop, and MIA 
CA ANZ Train the Trainer, 
we groom academicians to 
teach to global standards 
and improve the calibre of 
young accountants. 

Members are an equally 
essential source of intellectual 
and human capital for the 
nation. We have steadily 
increased MIA membership at 
an average annual growth of 
approximately 4% per annum 
for the past 20 years, peaking 
at a total of 33,294 members 
in 2016/2017. Our aspiration 
is to increase member loyalty 
and satisfaction to improve 
retention and attract new 
members to the profession. 

Membership & Operations

Performance 
Review

Below 30 
 31 – 40
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7
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8
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Membership by 
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 51 – 60
 Above 61

Academia 
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Membership by 
employment (%)

 Public practice
 Public sector
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are proud of 
MIA Membership

81%

This has paid off: in 2016/2017, 
we conducted the MIA 
Membership Satisfaction 
Survey and found that 
approximately 78% of the 
members are satisfied with 
the Institute and 81% of 
the members are proud of 
being associated with MIA. 
To boost satisfaction, our new 
MIA Digital Membership 
Privilege Card is designed 
to offer members exclusive 

benefits and lifestyle privileges 
and updates on Institute 
news and development via 
the mobile phone. To accord 
prestige and status to the 
profession and members, 
MIA moved its corporate 
headquarters to the modern 
corporate enclave of exclusive 
Bangsar South in August 2016. 

To enhance our members’ 
prospects, we collaborate 
with global PAO to offer 
members expedited special 
development pathways. 
These are: the MIA CPA 
Australia MOU – Special 
Admission for MIA Senior 
Members, the MIA MOA with 
CIMA – Fast Track Route, 
the MIA ACCA Agreement 
– Incentivised Pathway, and 
the MOU with CIPFA for 
members in the public sector. 
Targeting commerce and 
industry, we conduct our 
Membership Awareness 
Campaign at selected 
corporate organisations 

to encourage upskilling 
via professional pathways.

We have also appointed 
MIA CARE Ambassadors to 
assist members with gaining 
relevant practical experience 
in line with the International 
Education Standards 5 – 
“Initial Professional 
Development – Practical 
Experience”. To date, MIA 
CARE Ambassadors have 
conducted 11 engagement 
sessions at the country’s major 
public and private universities.

Impacting ASEAN
As an outward-looking 
PAO espousing multilateral 
development, MIA advocates 
mutual recognition and 
development of the profession 
to support regional economic 
growth. We share our 
expertise as an exemplary 
emerging market PAO 
through the ASEAN 
Federation of Accountants, 
participating in AFA’s 
Working Committee on 
Adoption and Implementation 
of International Standards 
and Working Committee on 
PAO Capacity Building. We 
also actively engage with 
the ASEAN Coordinating 
Committee on Services and 
the ASEAN CPA Coordinating 
Committee. Malaysia’s 
Assessment Statement 
was approved in May 2017 
enabling the registration 
of MIA members as ASEAN 
CPAs and subsequently 
as Registered Foreign 
Professional Accountants in 
other ASEAN Member States.

Operations
Behind the scenes, we run a 
tight ship through functions 
such as procurement, IT and 
finance, ensuring that MIA 
is a model sustainable PAO. 
We focus on maintaining 

financial sustainability and 
viability for all units within 
MIA. To enhance cybersecurity 
and member assurance 
and satisfaction, we are 
currently upgrading 
the MIA Membership 
Information System.

Vision for the future
For 2017/2018, we will pursue 
our ongoing strategies to 
augment the profession’s 
capacity and competency and 
the Institute’s sustainability. 

MIA will continue to develop 
our multifaceted talent 
pipeline targeting members, 
educators and youth, and 
will reach out to more states 
and universities to expand 
our MIA Care Ambassador 
outreach programme. 

A key development for 
2017/2018 is our targeted 
completion of the MIA 
Competency Framework, in 
response to recommendations 
from the Committee to 
Strengthen the Accountancy 
Profession. The Framework 
defines baseline competencies 
for accountancy professionals 
to meet market expectations 
and is benchmarked against 
IFAC requirements and 
local content to elevate 
their quality. 

Banking on our strategic 
partnerships and stakeholder 
support, we are committed 
to doing our best to 
help achieve the nation’s 
goal and growing the 
membership of accountancy  
professionals.
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Strategy & Development

As the national accountancy 
body, MIA occupies a 
unique position where 
the Accountants Act 
1967 entrusts us to 
regulate and develop 
the accountancy profession 
to support nation building.

Ensuring Sustainability
and Competence

G. Shanmugam 
Executive Director
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This mandate 
requires us to 
produce sufficient 
high-quality and 

market-ready accountancy 
professionals to support 
business demands. 

I am entrusted to lead the 
Strategy and Development 
Division which covers 
continuing professional 
education, communications 
and branding, and strategic 
planning and management.

Professional 
Development
My division plays a significant 
role in developing and 
upskilling the accountancy 
professionals at all skill levels 
and roles by designing and 
delivering affordable continuing 
professional education through 
several channels, to meet 
ever-changing market needs. 
We have upskilled accountancy 
professionals in all segments 
– business, commerce and 
industry, government and 
public sector, and public 
practice – to support 
our economy and society. 
In 2016/2017 alone, a 
record number of 35,800 
accountancy professionals 
benefited from 968 courses 
held nationwide. The CPE 
activities also generated 
revenue of RM24.82 million 
to help support MIA as 
a self-funding financially 
sustainable organisation.

As the local Professional 
Accountancy Organisation 
(PAO), MIA is uniquely 
positioned to develop 
accountancy professionals 
who are fit and ready for 
local market demands. We 
possess the local knowledge 
and local networks that 
enable us to equip our 
members and non-members 
with the skills to add value 
in the local landscape and 
to be continually relevant 
to the businesses and 
society they serve. This is 
our unique value creation 
factor that helps and supports 
our members especially 
those who have qualified 
through international 
accountancy bodies. 

Communications
The communications and 
branding function is to 
articulate our purpose and 
the value we create to our 
members and stakeholders 
consistently across all channels. 

In executing its strategic 
communications plan through 
smart partnerships with the 
media, MIA has improved 
its effectiveness in reaching 
and communicating with 
its members, stakeholders 
and the general public. 
The 50th anniversary 
celebration this year is 
also a major initiative 
in our communications 
and branding plan that 
brings our members and 
stakeholders closer. 

Strategy
The strategy function is 
tasked with mapping out 
and communicating MIA’s 
long-term sustainability 
strategy and value creation to 
ensure that the accountancy 
profession continues to 
remain vibrant and relevant 
to society. We are working 

generated from CPE activities

RM24.82M

on our 2018-2030 Strategic 
Blueprint which will shed 
clarity on the Institute’s 
direction and ensure that 
we do not stray from our 
purpose of nation building 
by creating competent 
accountancy professionals. 

By doing all this, we hope 
to continue developing 
current and future generations 
of accountancy professionals 
to the highest technical, 
leadership and ethical 
standards, in order to 
embed integrity and 
inspire confidence and 
trust in Malaysian talent, 
business and markets. 

35,800
participants benefited from 
MIA CPE programmes

968
courses held  
nationwide 
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Throughout MIA’s 
history, the Strategy 
and Development 
division has logged 

a remarkable track record 
in continuing professional 
education (CPE) to achieve 
MIA’s strategic vision of 
heightening the profession’s 
capabilities and supporting 
nation building. Since 2016, 
via our new Strategy function, 
we have been entrusted 
to shape MIA’s long-term 
sustainability and value 
creation strategies to 
future-proof the profession, 
despite myriad challenges.

Professional 
Development
As the main income earner 
of the Institute, we add 
tremendous value to MIA’s 
financial capital, which is 
generated primarily by 
our core business of CPE. 
Income earned is utilised 
to support MIA’s other 
indispensable functions, 
such as implementing 
professional standards and 
practices to enhance quality 
and competency, and funding 
surveillance and enforcement 
to police the profession, 
engender trust and protect 
the public interest. For 
2016/2017, we earned an 
income of RM24.82 million –   
from seminars and workshops 
(RM12.99 million), special 

events and partnerships 
(RM7.04 million), the MIA 
International Accountants 
Conference (RM3.86 million) 
and sponsorships (RM0.93  
million). For 2017/2018, we 
aim to generate RM27.93  
million for the Institute’s 
financial sustainability. 

Our work adds considerable 
value to the profession’s 
human and intellectual capital. 
As a prolific and award-winning 
provider of accountancy CPE, 
we reskill and upskill thousands 
of accountancy professionals 
annually. For 2016/2017, we 
successfully organised 968 
programmes - including 174 
new titles - that benefitted 
about 35,800 participants, 
comprising 63% MIA members 
and 37% non-members. 

Approximately 400 industry 
specialists and subject 
matter experts served as 
facilitators and speakers 
for our CPE programmes, 
and our database is growing 
annually. We attract top-level 
international speakers, 
demonstrating the rising 
weight and influence of 
the Malaysian profession 
in ASEAN and globally. 

The specialised local 
content of our programmes 
– spanning Malaysian Private 
Entity Standard (MPERS), 
Malaysian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards 
(MPSAS), enhanced auditor 
reporting, GST compliance, 

Strategy and Development

Reviewing
Performance

Central (HQ) 
 Northern region
 

7.6

11.1

6.8
5.1

69.4

Southern region

Participation from 
Nationwide (%)

 
 

Sabah region
Sarawak region

Central (HQ) 
 Northern region
 

6.9

8.7
5.54.2

74.7

Southern region

Events organised 
at Nationwide (%)

 
 

Sabah region
Sarawak region
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Taxation, Integrated Reporting, 
new Company’s Act and 
corporate governance 
regulations, to technology 
and innovation – are not 
only unmatched by other 
PAO operating here, but 
prove to be exceptionally 
relevant for all accountancy 
professionals working in the 
Malaysian environment. 

We enjoyed tremendous 
demand for our local content 
in 2016/2017 and we predict 
further growth as changes 
to regulations and standards 
drive the need to reskill. 
Amongst the programmes 
organised in 2016/2017 
are 84 MPERS programmes 
(2,799 participants), 74 
Companies Act 2016 
programmes (4,032 
participants), 18 National 
Budget 2017 events in 
collaboration with the 
Malaysian Association of 
Tax Accountants (over 2,500 
participants), 129 nationwide 
GST events (4,750 participants), 
12 MPSAS programmes 
(over 350 participants) and 
24 SMP audit programmes 
(over 1,200 members in 
public practice). Outcomes 
achieved include enhanced 
governance, compliance 
and quality of accounting 
services, benchmarked 
to global standards and 
professional practices.

Irrespective of membership, 
MIA offers all accountancy 
professionals working in 

Malaysia easy and affordable 
access to our programmes 
via multiple channels, 
including customised in-house 
training and e-learning. The 
current ratio of participants 
of members and non-members 
proves that we are serving 
the development needs of 
the entire profession in all 
major segments: commerce 
and industry, government 
and public sector, public 
practice, academia, and small 
and medium enterprises 
(SMEs). Our main objective 
is to upskill and future-proof 
all accountancy professionals 
in Malaysia so they fulfil market 
and employer expectations.  

Moving ahead, we will 
continue investing in CPE 
to defend our status as 
the foremost provider of 
accountancy CPE in Malaysia. 
Leveraging our collaborative 
leadership model, we seek to 
grow social and relationship 
capital by working with our 
partners and stakeholders 
to research and develop 
more valuable CPE courses 
that address current and 
future issues. On top of 
strengthening MIA’s own 
brand, we will create co-
branding opportunities that 
can reduce costs and make 
CPE programmes even more 
affordable and accessible. 
Moreover, we are planning 
to offer more regional 
programmes to cater to 
growing demand from 
members and accountancy 
professionals outside the 
central region. We will also 
accelerate our e-learning 
offerings to accommodate 
growing digital demand. 
Currently we offer 80 affordable 
e-learning courses and we 
plan to increase these to 
90 by 2018. 

Strategy, 
Communications 
and Special Projects
Under our new Strategy 
function, we are currently 
crafting MIA’s 2018-2030 
Strategic Blueprint, which 
will align the long-term 
sustainability and continuity 
of the Institute’s policies and 
actions with our purpose of 
nation building as spelt out 
in the Accountants Act 1967. 
This Blueprint will articulate our 
new vision to our stakeholders 
and communicate our ongoing 
mission of strengthening the 
profession to develop the 
nation. We target that the 
Blueprint will be ready for 
public viewing by this year-end. 

MIA turns 50 on 30th September 
2017 and we are very proud 
to be entrusted with planning 
and executing our Golden 
Jubilee special project. This 
is not just a milestone for the 
profession, but an opportunity 
to heighten brand exposure, 
communicate the MIA 
nation building narrative 
and strengthen social and 
relationship capital. We have 
put in motion a year-long 
series of events that pays 
tribute to our long history 
of nation building and 
our core values of integrity, 
accountability and trust.  

Working together with our 
diverse stakeholders, we are 
enthused to contribute our 
unique skills and strengths 
to the advancement of MIA 
and the profession. We aim 
to keep raising the bar on 
our principal business of 
professional development in 
order to upskill the profession’s 
human and intellectual 
capital, while striving to 
augment the Institute’s 
financial capital and 
long-term sustainability.

Successful CPE 
programmes

968
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Professional Practices & Technical

Enhancing
Quality
Professional Practices 
and Technical plays 
a critical role in 
enhancing the quality 
and competency of the 
profession in Malaysia 
to support national 
development. 
Simon Tay Pit Eu 
Executive Director
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We drive 
consensus 
and provide 
technical 

guidance to all accountancy 
professionals in Malaysia 
to achieve consistent 
professional practices 
while raising their value to 
meet market expectations.

Throughout MIA’s history, 
we have been pivotal in 
implementing professional 
standards and ethical practices 
to enhance market integrity 
and good governance, hence 
inspiring public trust and 
stakeholder confidence. 

In accounting, we continued 
to facilitate implementation 
of impending Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
As the local standard setter 
for auditing standards, 
we collaborated with 
stakeholders to drive 
adoption of the enhanced 
auditor reporting standards, 
effective for audits of 
financial statements for 
financial periods ending on 
or after 15 December 2016.

Small and medium enterprises 
and practices (SMEs and 
SMPs) are complementary 
segments of business and 
the profession which are 
especially challenged by 
new developments and 
regulations. To assist them, 
we created the SMP 
Roadmap, supported 
the implementation 
of MPERS, published 
the Illustrative MPERS 
Financial Statements 
and provide technical 
support to enhance their 
competitiveness and  
sustainability.

Banking on 
Relationships
Strategic collaboration 
propels our value creation 
strategy. To nurture our 
relationship and social 
capital, we seek to share 
our experiences as a 
leading regional professional 
accountancy organisation 
(PAO). The World Bank has 
selected us as their partner 
in their IFRS implementation 
project in Lao PDR. 

In Malaysia, we collaborate 
closely with regulators such as 
the Companies Commission 
of Malaysia (CCM), the 
Securities Commission 
and Bursa Malaysia to 
resolve issues impacting the 
profession and stakeholders 
and to enhance the business 
environment, corporate 
governance and the capital 
market. We partner with 
firms, industry players and 
other stakeholders to issue 
guidance and technical 
publications that engender 
quality and expertise in 
the financial ecosystem. 
To elevate the performance 
of the finance function 
and enable accountancy 
professionals to deliver 
relevant value, PPT is 
currently completing 
competency frameworks 
for CFOs and finance 
functions to map out 
market expectations, 
roles and skillsets. 

Steering Innovation
Ever cognisant of future trends 
affecting the profession, 
PPT embraces innovation 
to advance accountancy 
professionals up the value 
chain. To seize opportunities 
from digital disruption, we 
encourage our accountancy 
professionals to invest 
in technology.

We drive innovation 
by advocating <IR>, 
which transforms the way 
organisations envisage 
and articulate their value-
creation story to sustain 
investor interest and 
vibrancy in the market. 

Our other key activities 
encompass projects and 
initiatives pertaining to 
capital market, public 
sector, public practice, 
taxation, business valuation 
and Islamic finance that 
benefits accountancy 
professionals and practitioners. 
While our talented team 
is small, we appreciate 
the support from numerous 
technical boards/committees 
led by MIA and comprising 
experts from across the 
profession and businesses, 
which enable us to deliver 
guidance and enhance quality 
in aid of nation building. 

427
technical queries  
answered

39
comment letters on 
consultative documents
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Professional Practices & Technical

Reviewing
Performance

Accountancy 
professionals 
today operate in 
a VUCA (volatile, 

uncertain, complex and 
ambiguous) landscape, 
where they must manage 
major changes in standards 
and regulatory requirements 
and embrace expanded roles 
beyond accounting and finance 
to become leaders in business.

The Professional Practices 
and Technical division aims 
to upskill accountancy 
professionals to face challenges 
relating to compliance with 
standards and regulations 
whilst addressing evolving 
market expectations. During 
2016/2017, we issued 43 
articles/publications and 
39 comment letters on 
consultative documents, 
and responded to 427 
technical queries. 

Compliance with 
Standards and 
Regulations
Our core role focuses on 
providing technical guidance 
on the implementation of 
international accounting, 
auditing and ethics standards, 
relevant regulations and 
professional practices to 
enhance the competency 
and quality of the profession 
thereby gaining confidence 
and trust. To facilitate 
the implementation, 

we engage and collaborate 
with practitioners, preparers 
and relevant regulators. 

For 2016/2017, we 
exerted efforts to assist 
preparers, practitioners 
and auditors externally 
for the implementation 
of MPERS, and provided 
substantial input to MIA’s 
professional development 
wing to create the relevant 
CPE programmes.  

2016/2017 also witnessed 
groundbreaking change in 
the structure and contents of 
the audit report to enhance 
the quality and value of 
audit reports. Prior to the 
implementation of enhanced 
auditor reporting standards, 
for which the inclusion of key 
audit matters for listed entities 
was the most significant 
change, we conducted 
numerous engagement 
sessions to create awareness 
and educate stakeholders. 
To provide guidance and 
shed clarity on key issues, 
we produced two impactful 
publications targeted at 
directors and investors. 

The new Companies Act 
2016 that came into force 
on 31 January 2017 had 
pervasive impacts on the 
profession as well. MIA 
engaged with the Companies 
Commission of Malaysia to 
clarify implementation issues 
related to financial statements 
and related reports, audit 
exemption, and directors.

Voluntary adoption 
(within our knowledge)  

18

8

7

Adoption in the next 2 years
Adoption in the next 5 years

Number of businesses that have 
pledged for adoption of <IR>

 
 

Financial reporting and assurance 
 

22

465
396

438

Capital market and PAIB
Islamic finance
Small and medium practices

Number of participants 
in outreaches 
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Publications/technical 
articles published 
during the year

43

On the capital market front, 
we worked rigorously on 
providing guidance note 
and FAQs on Accountant’s 
Report and proforma financial 
information and FAQs 
on prospective financial 
information to drive 
consistency in practices. 

To assist SMPs, we reviewed 
and provided significant input 
to MICPA in producing an audit 
manual and illustrative audit 
working papers specifically for 
SMPs to improve audit quality 
and address the Committee to 
Strengthen the Accountancy 
Profession’s recommendations 
to heighten SMP competency. 
Subsequently, we collaborated 
with MICPA to launch 
the Quality Assessment 
Programme which affords 
SMPs the opportunity to 
be assessed voluntarily for 
quality improvements.

Continuing Work 
Streams and Initiatives
For 2017/2018, the imminent 
implementation of game-
changing accounting 
standards will require 
tremendous preparation 
and education. We are 
paving the way for the 
application of MFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and MFRS 9 
Financial Instruments and 
for MFRS 16 Leases. These 
high-impact standards will 
entail not only changes 

in accounting but have 
implications on systems, 
business models, and 
contracts across a broad 
spectrum of industries. We 
have several work streams on 
MFRS 9 and are working on 
FAQs for MFRS 15. A second 
edition of MPERS Illustrative 
Financial Statements is also 
along the way. 

In auditing, we are working 
jointly with ACCA and the 
Audit Oversight Board to 
review the progress of the 
implementation of key audit 
matters in audit reports of 
listed entities in Malaysia. We 
are analysing audit reports 
and obtaining feedback 
from audit committees and 
investors on their perception 
of the value of enhanced 
auditor reporting to improve 
audit quality in future 
reporting cycles. 

Recognising megatrends 
such as technology and 
digital disruption and the 
need to prepare accountants 
for upcoming risks and 
opportunities, we established 
the Digital Economy Task 
Force to guide the profession 
on investing in and harnessing 
technology. We will also 
sharpen our focus on how 
firms, especially SMPs, can 
better automate the auditing 
process and improve audit 
effectiveness and quality in 
line with the SMP Roadmap. 

We expect <IR> to gain 
momentum as more 
companies pledge to 
produce integrated reports. 
MIA as the national 
advocate for <IR> will 
continue to clarify challenges 
and prospects, share guidance 
and lessons learnt and help 
new and potential adopters 
embark on their journey into 
integrated thinking and 
articulating value creation.

For 2017/2018, MIA is 
positioning itself to be a centre 
of excellence for Islamic 
finance, especially in the 
application of accounting 
standards and education. 
Our key project is to publish 
a definitive textbook on the 
application of IFRS to Islamic 
finance. Through our upcoming 
Islamic finance mini pupillage 
programme, we are bringing 
in subject matter experts to 
mentor select candidates and 
build capacity to address the 
talent deficit in Islamic finance. 

Moreover, we have established 
a Valuation Committee to 
research and deliberate on 
developing a standard and 
competency framework for 
business valuation. This 
aims to address increasing 
complaints about the quality 
and inconsistency of valuation 
practices, which are essential 
to improving the precision and 
quality of financial information 
in the capital market. 

Currently, our priority is to 
balance the technical needs 
of specific members and 
stakeholders and support 
the overall interests of the 
Institute and profession. 
Fortunately, we enjoy a highly 
collaborative environment 
where our team engages with 
numerous technical boards/
committees that collectively 
channel the resources and 
thought leadership from large 
accounting firms and subject 
matter experts for dissemination 
to our stakeholders. As we 
move ahead, MIA continues to 
empower our talent to deepen 
and broaden our expertise 
and research to contribute 
meaningfully to discussions 
and formulate MIA’s stance 
on technical issues, standards 
and professional practices.
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After 50 years of history, 
it is timely for MIA to reflect 
on its impacts and role as the 
regulator of the accountancy 
profession, with a view to 
enhancing public assurance 
and trust to support  
nation building.

Embedding Ethics,
Enforcing Governance

Surveillance & Enforcement

Dato’ Hj Muhammad Redzuan Abdullah 
Executive Director
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In line with the 
recommendations 
put forth by the 
Government’s CSAP, 

MIA is renewing its focus 
on surveillance and 
enforcement to compel 
ethical behaviour among 
accounting professionals 
in Malaysia and discharge 
our enduring obligation to 
protect the public interest. 

Armed with four decades of 
experience in enforcement, 
legal and prosecution, 
I was appointed by MIA in 
2016 to lead the Surveillance 
and Enforcement Division, 
and to introduce a game-
changing perspective on 
policing the profession. 
Key to this is to emphasise 
that MIA’s primary purpose 
is to develop and regulate 
the accountancy profession 
to mould competent and 
ethical accountants to 
support nation building, 
as enshrined in the 
Accountants Act 1967. 

To shape ethical accountancy 
professionals, our strategy 
going forward is to implement 
the Balanced Enforcement 
approach. Through continuing 
professional development and 
the upcoming Competency 
Framework, MIA will educate 
accounting professionals on 
their obligations and their 
duties of compliance; the 
onus is on you to educate 
yourself to the expected 
standards of competency 
and comply with the new 
mandatory ruling on annual 
continuing professional 
education (CPE) hours. I have 
personally participated in 
several MIA events as a 
moderator, panellist and 
speaker to communicate 
our stance and stress 
our commitment to good 
governance. If you refuse 
to comply with CPE and 
flout the rules, then MIA 
will exert the full force 
of law against you.  
Non-compliance will not 
be tolerated in our rigorous 
regulatory regime which 
defends public trust and 
market confidence. 

We have also acted to 
streamline the division’s 
frameworks and standard 
operating procedures 
for efficient outcomes, 
and to strengthen the 
investigative and disciplinary 
powers granted to us 
within the scope of the 
Accountants Act 1967. 
We mean business, 
and there will be no 
exemptions or exceptions. 
As a way forward, we have 
recommended that fines 

be increased punitively 
and licences for subpar 
audit firms be revoked, 
to name-and-shame 
bogus accountants. 
We have revamped the 
Practice Review regime 
effective 1st July 2017 
to expedite the process 
of instituting remedial 
actions and enabling 
tougher action against 
recalcitrant practitioners. 
Plus, we are expanding 
the numbers of investigative 
and disciplinary committees 
to manage the increasing 
number of cases. 

For 2017/2018, we are 
crafting new legislation 
to replace the Accountants 
Act 1967, which once 
approved will bridge 
the gaps in the current 
regulatory environment 
and empower MIA with 
comprehensive powers to 
enforce good governance 
and punish abuses. 
Guided by the CSAP 
recommendations and 
the upcoming 2018-2030 
Strategic Blueprint, 
we pledge to continue 
strengthening the 
profession’s regulatory 
environment to build 
public and market 
confidence and catalyse 
national development. CPE compliance 

audit on practising 
certificate holders 
in year 2018

We aim to achieve

100%
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Surveillance & Enforcement

Reviewing
Performance

The Surveillance and 
Enforcement Division 
is authorised to 
shape a robust 

regulatory environment 
geared towards heightening 
professional competency 
and credibility.

Our Balanced Enforcement 
approach integrates 
education and enforcement. 
By enforcing mandatory 
CPE hours, we educate 
accountancy professionals 
to keep them current 
and compliant with 
current regulations and 
developments. To show 
that we mean business, 
we vigilantly police the 
profession through initiatives 
such as Practice Review, 
Financial Statements Review, 
Continuing Professional 
Education Compliance 
Audit, Investigation and 
Disciplinary proceedings 
and bring the wrath of the 
law down on wrongdoers, 
without exemptions. 

Practice Review
In 2016/2017, we revised 
the 13-year old Practice 
Review Framework 
effective 1st July 2017 
to improve member firms’ 
compliance with all 
applicable professional 
standards and statutes – 

including the International 
Standard on Quality 
Control 1 (ISQC1) – 
during the performance 
of their audit work. 

The new framework eliminates 
follow-up reviews for Type 3 
firms (unsatisfactory rating) 
and introduces a Type 4 
rating. Under the new 
regime, practitioners of 
Type 3 firms must attend 
remedial audit workshops 
and draw up a remedial 
action plan to rectify the 
weaknesses identified in 
the review. Type 4 ratings 
apply to those practitioners 
who have behaved unethically 
e.g. signing off on audit 
reports without maintaining 
audit working papers and 
audit files or have relied 
on assurances given by 
third parties unlicensed to 
perform audit work, thus 
abusing the privileges of 
their audit licences.

In Type 3 cases where 
practitioners fail to 
draw up a remedial action 
plan or their plan fails, 
their membership shall be 
suspended for a minimum 
of six months or a maximum 
period of three years, until 
the plan is drawn up or 
executed appropriately. 
In Type 4 cases, membership 
shall be suspended for 
a maximum of three years. 

Practice review programme

First review

Type 1 (Satisfactory)
 Type 2 (Assurance of compliance)

15 10

3

Type 3 (Follow-up)

Practice review programme
Follow-up review

 

Type 1 (Satisfactory)
 Type 2 (Assurance of compliance)

 

19

14

 Type 3 (Follow-up)
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complaints 
completed 
during the year

91

Financial Statements 
Review
As the national advocate 
for high-quality corporate 
reporting, we proactively 
review financial statements 
of public listed companies 
and public interest cases 
to monitor financial 
irregularities and assuage 
public and market confidence. 
For 2016/2017, we closed 
25 cases (20 in Category 1 
– satisfactory and 5 in 
Category 2 – partially 
satisfactory) compared 
to 16 cases during the 
previous financial year. 
We continuously monitor 
financial statements with 
substantial non-compliances 
in financial reporting, 
or Category 2 cases. 
These are placed under 
surveillance for up to 
two consecutive years, 
and we assess how these 
non-compliances have 
been addressed in a 
subsequent review.

To help improve reporting 
quality, we published an 
article in MIA’s Accountants 
Today channel, entitled 
“Financial Reporting 
Disclosures: Shedding Light 
on an Entity’s Performance”, 
which highlighted the 
lessons learnt from 
past reviews. Annually, 
we jointly organise the 
National Annual Corporate 
Reporting Awards (NACRA) 
in collaboration with 
Bursa Malaysia and the 
Malaysian Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants 
(MICPA) to encourage and 
recognise excellence in 
financial reporting. 

Investigation 
Committee
Our Investigation 
Committee looks into 
various types of alleged 
misconduct including 
accounting and auditing 
failure, liquidators’ failure, 
company secretaries’ 
failure, and practice 
review failure. During 
the financial year, we 
dismissed 50 complaints 
(2015/2016: 47 complaints) 
and referred 41 complaints 
(2015/2016: 5 complaints) 
to our Disciplinary 
Committee. In addition, 
we proposed that 5 new 
complaints be lodged with 
the MIA’s Registrar relating 
to members practising 
without a licence, issues 
of independence, and 
failure to comply with 
the Institute’s By-Laws. 
We also proposed to issue 
administrative reprimands 
against 6 respondents 
via MIA’s Membership 
Department for minor 
violations of the By-Laws.

Disciplinary Committee
During the financial year, 
we dismissed 5 cases 
(2015/2016: 5 cases) 
and 7 cases (2015/2016:  
10 cases) resulted in 
punishments. The most 
number of complaints 
heard and disposed by 
us involved auditors, 
and pertained to Practice 
Review and audit issues. 

For 2016/2017, we also 
took action against 6 bogus 
accountants and 6 members 
with fraudulent qualifications, 
and proposed to the 
Accountant General of 
Malaysia for non-renewal 
of audit licences for 
3 members who failed to 
comply with MIA’s mandatory 
CPE requirement. 

Our Vision
As of 2016/2017, we have 
implemented several key 
improvements to heighten 
enforcement and will continue 
to do so in 2017/2018 and 
beyond. In the post-CSAP 
regime, we propose to 
restructure legislation and 
strengthen the regulatory 
environment to boost 
market acceptance and 
recognition of MIA as the 
de facto regulator of the 
accountancy profession. 
Key proposed amendments 
to the Accountants Act 1967 
include drastically raising 
the fines that can be imposed 
by our Disciplinary Committee 
to punish non-compliance 
and compel good behaviour. 
Multi-jurisdictional cooperation 
is integral to our effectiveness, 
and we will continue to 
work closely with our fellow 
regulators and professional 
bodies to mould a robust 
and ethical profession that 
upholds good governance 
and integrity. 
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Financial 
Summary

The MIA recorded 
a surplus before 
taxation of 
RM0.71 million 

in the financial year 2017, 
marking the Institute’s 
consistency and ability 
to maintain its financial 
sustainability in managing 
its daily operations with 
its continued passion for 
nation building. 

On a year-on-year basis, 
the reduction of 
RM1.4 million surplus 
before taxation relative 
to the previous financial 
year was mainly due to 
the expenses incurred in 
relation to the written-off 
assets, agent fees paid 
in respect of the sale of 
the building in Brickfields, 
and expenses related to 
the implementation of 
CSAP recommendations, 

off-set by the increase 
in revenue generated 
from membership, 
CPE events and  
conferences.

Accumulated fund
The accumulated 
fund of the institute 
has increased by 
RM0.97 million  
(2.8% increase) due 
to the positive surplus 
for the financial year 
and it is a positive  
indication of good 
capital management 
with an overall increase 
in the net assets of 
the Institute.

Surplus before taxation

RM0.71M
2016: RM2.11 million 

Revenue

RM38.35M
2016: RM34.86 million 

The Institute is committed to managing its finances 
prudently to be a sustainable and well-governed 
organisation that supports nation building.
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Five-year summary of financial performance      
         

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

(In RM ‘Million)

Revenue 38.35 34.86 43.10 31.55 24.48

Surplus before taxation 0.71 2.11 7.80 2.72 1.31

Taxation 0.26 0.10 (0.41) 0.64 (0.06)

Surplus after taxation 0.97 2.21 7.39 3.36 1.25

Accumulated fund 35.95 34.98 32.76 25.37 22.01

Non-current liabilities –   –  16.76 5.69 5.69

35.95 34.98 49.52 31.06 27.70

Property, plant and 
equipment

28.31 25.46 23.00 12.14 12.38

Intangible assets 0.42 0.32 0.25 0.12 0.08

Investments 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01

Deferred tax assets 0.29 0.03 – – –

Total non-current assets 29.03 25.82 23.26  12.27 12.47
Current assets 21.63 21.63 37.22 31.43 23.01
Current liabilities 14.71 12.47 10.96 12.64 7.78
Net current assets 6.92 9.16 26.26 18.79 15.23
Net assets 35.95 34.98 49.52 31.06 27.70
 Current ratio 1.47 1.74 3.40 2.49 2.96
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Council
Members

Sudirman Masduki
Registrar

Salihin Abang
President
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Aznorashiq Mohamed Zin 
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj Abdul Aziz 
Member
[Section 8(1)(b) – Appointed]

Leong Wai Leng
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Standing, left to right

Seated, left to right
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Dato‘ Mohammad Faiz Azmi 
Past President
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Wong Wye Pong, Brian 
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

K. Renganathan
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Mohd Zabidi Md Nor
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Dato’ Merina Abu Tahir
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Dato‘ Narendra Kumar Jasani 
Vice President
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]
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Yap Seng Chong
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Huang Shze Jiun
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Dato’ Gan Ah Tee 
Member
[Section 8(1)(d) – Appointed]

Lim Thiam Kee, Peter 
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Chong Dee Shiang, Teresa 
Member
[Section 8(1)(d) – Appointed]

Standing, left to right

Seated, left to right

Council  
Members
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Ng Kean Kok
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Foong Mun Kong
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Chong Hou Nian, Steven
Member
[Section 8(1)(g) – Elected]

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Romlah Jaffar 
Member
[Section 8(1)(b) – Appointed]

Yeo Tek Ling 
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]
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Standing, left to right

Dato’ Haji Che Pee Samsudin
Accountant General
[Section 8(1)(a) – Appointed]

Dato’ Abdul Rauf Rashid
Member
[Section 8(1)(c) – Appointed]

Dr. Yacob Mustafa 
Member
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan
Past Vice President
[Section 8(1)(f) – Appointed]

Seated, left to right

Council  
Members
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Prof. Dr. Maliah Sulaiman 
Member
[Section 8(1)(b) – Appointed]

Saat Esa 
Deputy Accountant General (Operations)
[Section 8(1)(a) – Appointed]

Datuk Tan Theng Hooi
Member
[Section 8(1)(e) – Appointed]

Dato’ Dr. Lukman Ibrahim
Member
[Section 8(1)(d) – Appointed]

Absent 

Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad
Member
[Section 8(1)(b) – Appointed]

Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa@
Mohamed Isa
Member
[Section 8(1)(b) – Appointed]
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Institute’s functions:
Section 6 of the Accountants Act 1967 
(the Act) states that the functions of 
the Institute shall be:

• To determine the qualifications of 
persons for admission as members;

• To provide for the training and 
education; and by the Institute 
or any other body, of persons 
practising or intending to practise 
the profession of accountancy;

• To approve the MIA Qualifying 
Examination (QE) and to regulate 
and supervise the conduct of 
that Examination;

• To regulate the practice of the 
profession of accountancy 
in Malaysia;

• To promote, in the manner it thinks 
fit, the interests of the profession 
of accountancy in Malaysia;

• To render pecuniary or other 
assistance to members or their 
dependents as it thinks fit with a 
view to protecting or promoting 
the welfare of members; and

• Generally to do such acts as it thinks 
fit for the purpose of achieving any 
of the aforesaid objects.

Institute’s governance and 
internal control statement
The following report outlines how the 
Institute has applied the main principles 
and best practices as set out in the 
relevant codes of corporate governance 
in order to discharge its duties and 
optimise assurance, independence 
and oversight. This statement also 
explains how management, controls 
and risk management practices are 
structured in order to minimise risks 
and optimise performance.

Ministry  
of Finance

Parliament

Council

MIA  
Human 
Capital

Internal 
Audit/Risk 

Management

Audit & Risk 
Management 
Committee

Chief 
Executive 

Officer Registrar

Nominating 
Committee

Executive 
Committee

Governance  
Framework
and Functions
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Highlights
• Formed new Committees and 

Taskforces such as the Technology 
Committee, the Young 
Professionals Committee, 
the Digital Economy Taskforce 
and the Online Bank Confirmation 
Taskforce to manage potential 
risks and opportunities;

• Cracked down on Bogus 
Accountants to protect the public 
interest; 

• Proposed a Competency 
Framework to equip accountancy 
professionals at all levels; 

• Approved and carried out the 
MIA-MICPA Quality Assessment 
Programme to enhance quality; 

• Revamped MIA’s Practice Review 
Programme to raise audit quality;

• Amplified MIA’s influence and 
recognition through strategic 
involvement in regional and 
international bodies/committees.

Report 
of the
Council

Council
MIA is governed by its Council to 
carry out the functions of the Institute 
as laid out in the Accountants Act 
1967 and to ensure good governance 
and provide strategic guidance 
to management. 

Section 9 of the Act endows 
MIA’s Council with the mandate to 
govern the Institute and its financial 
capital and assets. Section 10 of 
the Act empowers the Council 
to make by-laws, to appoint staff, 
to identify and monitor issues 
and developments affecting the 
Institute or professional conduct of 
its members, to communicate with 
fellow bodies and members of 
the profession in other jurisdictions 
and territories, to establish branches 
and delegate in its absolute discretion 
any of its power, privileges and 
discretions, to appoint Committees 
of the Institute, to exercise all such 
powers, privileges and discretions 
which are not required to be exercised 
by members in the general meeting 
and to use the official seal of 
the Institute.

The composition of the Council is 
diverse and inclusive, representing 
all major segments and interests 
of the profession – public practice, 
commerce and industry, public sector 
and academia. 
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Executive Committee (EXCO) 
The Executive Committee, or EXCO, 
was established by the Council as an 
operating Committee to oversee the 
implementation of MIA’s strategies in 
fulfilling its purpose of nation building. 
The EXCO acts as a liaison between 
Council and management to ensure 
effective execution of business 
strategies and daily operations 
and adherence to best corporate 
governance practices, risk management 
and internal controls. The EXCO is 
composed of leading professional 
accountants who are highly experienced 
and abreast of current and future 
developments, including the 
President and Vice President of MIA. 

Nominating Committee (NC)
The Nominating Committee is 
responsible for sourcing a diversified, 
inclusive and competent pool of 
governance and oversight talent. 
The Committee formally assesses 
the suitability of each candidate 
before recommending them to 
the Council for appointment to 
the Committees and Boards 
of the Institute or any other 
responsibility as directed by 
the Council. The Committee 
ensures that appointed members 
possess characteristics that satisfy 
the required mix of responsibilities, 
skills and experience in order to 
benefit the profession and take 
it forward.

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC)
Enhancing Internal Controls and 
Risk Management 
The Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC) supports the 
Council in discharging its corporate 
governance and overall oversight 
responsibilities for MIA’s system 
of internal control and its financial 
reporting processes to ensure 
compliance with rules and regulations. 
The ARMC also has oversight over 
MIA’s risk management policies 
and practices. 

The ARMC comprises 5 members 
from the MIA Council who are 
independent of the Executive 
Committee (EXCO). The Council 
approved the ARMC’s Terms of 
Reference (TOR) on 26 July 2007 
and its subsequent revision was 
approved on 16 December 2015. 

Highlights
• Review of Regional Offices’ 

activities for more inclusivity; 

• Invest in MIA’s IT infrastructure 
to strengthen analytics and 
cybersecurity; 

• Collaborate with the World Bank 
on the Financial Sector Integration 
Work Stream – Accounting 
and Auditing;

• Address Talent & Human 
Capital matters;

• Approved the MIA Strategic 
Communication Plan to improve 
the Institute’s reputation 
and branding.
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Financial Statement Reporting Process
The Institute’s Management is 
primarily responsible for the 
preparation, quality and statutory 
compliance of financial statements. 
The ARMC reviews and assesses the 
audited financial statements in the 
Annual Report with the Institute’s 
Management for appropriateness 
in interpreting application of the 
accounting principles; reasonableness 
of significant judgements and 
estimates; and the adequacy and 
correctness of disclosures made 
in the financial statements. 

For the financial year ended, 
the Committee met twice with 
the representatives of the Auditor 
General Office and the external 
auditor to discuss all relevant aspects 
of the audit, including significant 
findings arising from the audit of 
the financial statements.

Internal Audit Oversight
The ARMC is supported by 
MIA’s Internal Audit Department 
and ensures the department is 
independent and equipped with 
the necessary resources, standing 
and authority in discharging its 
duties. The Internal Audit function 
is governed by the Internal Audit 
Charter, which was approved by 
the Council on 26th July 2007. 
The Head of Internal Audit reports 
functionally to the Committee 
and administratively to the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) of MIA.

The Internal Audit Department 
conducts independent, regular and 
systematic reviews of MIA’s systems 
of internal control to ensure such 
systems continue to operate efficiently 
and effectively. The department 
adopts a risk-based audit approach 
and perform its review based on a 
two-year internal audit plan approved 
by the ARMC. The department also 
practices an adaptive audit planning 
approach which provides the flexibility 
needed to respond to emerging and 
potential risks. 

For the financial year, the ARMC 
reviewed the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls 
with reference to the internal audit 
work conducted during the year. 
The Head of Internal Audit tabled 
audit issues and actions taken by 
Management for deliberation by 
the ARMC.

Internal control and risk management
The Council and Management have 
the overall responsibility in maintaining 
a sound risk management framework 
and internal control system that 
strengthen the Institute’s control 
environment to safeguard stakeholders’ 
and MIA’s interests. The Management 
Risk Management Committee (MRMC) 
headed by the CEO implements, 
designs and maintains systems to 
mitigate risks, with support from 
the Internal Audit Department. The 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 
Manual approved by the Council 
helps the management and staff of 
the Institute to carry out this function. 
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The Institute’s system of internal 
controls covers governance, risk 
management, financial, strategy, 
organisational, operational, 
regulatory and compliance control 
matters, and comprises the following 
key processes:

1. Separation of commercial and 
regulatory functions;

2. Authority and responsibility;

3. Annual planning and 
budgetary exercise;

4. Policies and procedures;

5. Internal audit;

6. Risk management; and 

7. Performance measurement. 

The Management is responsible for 
identifying the risks and implementing 
appropriate systems to manage these 
risks. The ARMC reviews the principal 
risks, the Institute’s risk profile and the 
risk mitigation approach taken by 
Management on a half-yearly basis 
and provides recommendations for 
improvement. 

Internal control and risk-related 
matters which warranted the attention 
of the Council were recommended 
by the ARMC to the Council for its 
approval and matters or decisions 
made within the ARMC’s purview were 
updated to the Council for its notation.

Highlights of 
2016/2017
• Reviewed and approved the 

Internal Audit Department’s 
strategic plan for 2018-2030

• Reviewed the financial reporting 
process for the Audited Financial 
Statements 2016/2017

• Reviewed and endorsed MIA’s 
interim and annual financial reports

• Reviewed the Institute’s Risk Profile

• Reviewed and approved the 
Internal Audit Department’s 
Policy and Procedures on audit 
follow-up process

• Reviewed and discussed the 
internal audit reports conducted 
during the Financial Year

• Advised on accounting treatment 
on specific issues such as 
amortisation and capitalisation 
of assets

• Discussion with Auditor General 
Office’s representatives on 
key audit issues and audit fees 
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Composition of Council 
No. of Meetings: 12 
         
No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato' Mohammad Faiz Azmi President Retired as President 26 July 2017 12/12
2. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Vice  

President
Retired 15 July 2017 4/12

3. Saat Esa Member – 9/12
4. Abu Bakar Rajudin Member Retired 19 December 2016 4/6
5. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Romlah Jaffar Member Re-appointed 16 July 2017 7/12
6. Aznorashiq Mohamed Zin Member – 9/12
7. Chong Dee Shiang, Teresa Member Appointed 1 February 2017 4/5
8. Chong Hou Nian, Steven Member Elected 24 September 2016 9/9
9. Dato' Abdul Rauf Rashid Member Retired 17 June 2017 4/11
10. Dato' Dr Lukman Ibrahim Member – 6/12
11. Dato' Gan Ah Tee Member Retired 15 July 2017 11/12
12. Dato' Heng Ji Keng Member Retired 24 September 2016 3/3

13. Dato' Merina Abu Tahir Member Appointed 20 December 2016 5/6
14. Dato' Narendra Kumar Jasani Member – 10/12
15. Datuk Tan Theng Hooi Member – 7/12
16. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Member Retired 24 September 2016 2/3
17. Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh Member – 8/12
18. Dr. Yacob Mustafa Member – 5/12
19. Foong Mun Kong Member – 6/12
20. Huang Shze Jiun Member Elected 24 September 2016 9/9
21. K Renganathan A/L 

Renganathan Kannan
Member Elected 24 September 2016 7/9

22. Leong Kah Mun Member Retired 24 September 2016 3/3
23. Leong Wai Leng Member – 6/12
24. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member – 12/12
25. Mohd Zabidi Md Nor Member – 5/12
26. Ng Kean Kok Member – 8/12
27. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member – 4/12
28. Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa @ 

Mohamed Isa
Member Re-appointed 20 December 2016 5/12

29. Prof. Dr. Maliah Sulaiman Member Re-appointed 16 July 2017 6/12
30. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Ab Aziz Member Retired 15 July 2017 7/12
31. Salihin Abang Member – 8/12
32. Wong Chin Aik Member Retired 31 December 2016 1/6
33. Wong Wye Pong, Brian Member – 9/12
34. Yap Seng Chong Member – 8/12
35. Yeo Tek Ling Member – 11/12
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Nominating Committee 
No. of Meetings: 11 
         
No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato' Mohammad Faiz Azmi Chairman Re-appointed 25 October 2016 11/11
2. Dato' Abdul Rauf Rashid Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 8/11
3. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 9/11
4. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 10/11
5. Saat Esa Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 8/11

Executive Committee 
No. of Meetings: 13          
No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato' Mohammad Faiz Azmi Chairman Re-appointed 25 October 2016 13/13
2. Dato' Abdul Rauf Rashid Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 8/13
3. Dato' Gan Ah Tee Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 10/13
4. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 10/13
5. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 13/13
6. Saat Esa Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 11/13

Audit & Risk Management Committee (ARMC) 
No. of Meetings: 4  
 
No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Tan Theng Hooi Chairman Appointed as Chairman 
25 October 2016

4/4

2. Mohd Zabidi Md Nor Member Retired as Chairman and re-appointed 
as member 25 October 2016

2/4

3. Dr. Yacob Mustafa Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 0/4
4. Wong Wye Pong, Brian Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 4/4
5. Yap Seng Chong Member Re-appointed 25 October 2016 3/4
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL  
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  

MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Report on the Financial Statements
Opinion

The financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants have been audited by my representative which comprise 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2017, and Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, 
Statement of Changes in Accumulated Fund and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information as set out on pages 76 to 98. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants as at 30 June 2017 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the approved financial reporting standards in Malaysia and Accountants Act 1967 (Act 94).

Basis for Opinion

I conducted the audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1957 and The International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions. 
My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of my report. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. 

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

I am independent of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and I have fulfilled the other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the The International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Council of Malaysian Institute of Accountants is responsible for the other information in the Annual Report. My opinion 
on the financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants does not cover the information other than the financial 
statements and auditors’ report thereon and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Responsibilities of the Council for the Financial Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with approved financial reporting standards in Malaysia and Accountants Act 1967 
(Act 94). The Council is also responsible for such internal control as it is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants, the Council is responsible for assessing of 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with The International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with The International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

a. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants internal control.

c. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Council.

d. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on Malaysian Institute of Accountants ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I have to draw attention in my auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
of Malaysian Institute of Accountants if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of auditors’ report.

e. Evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements of Malaysian Institute of Accountants including the 
disclosures that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control identified during my audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of Accountants Act 1967 (Act 94), I also report in my opinion, the accounting and 
other records required to be kept by Malaysian Institute of Accountants of which I have acted as auditors have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provision of the Act.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the Council and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

 

(KHALID KHAN BIN ABDULLAH KHAN)  
For AUDITOR GENERAL  
MALAYSIA 

                                                                                                                                                      

PUTRAJAYA 
18 AUGUST 2017
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MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS

STATEMENT BY THE COUNCIL
We, Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi and Dr Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan, being the President and Chief Executive 
Officer, respectively, of the MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Council, 
the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Institute as at 30 June 2017 and of its results and cash flows for the financial year then ended. 

Signed on behalf of the Council in accordance with a resolution by the Council. 

 

DATO’ MOHAMMAD FAIZ MOHAMMAD AZMI             DR NURMAZILAH DATO’ MAHZAN 
PRESIDENT                                                                 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Dated: 26 July 2017 
Kuala Lumpur

DECLARATION BY THE OFFICER PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT OF THE INSTITUTE
I, Chua Suat Khim, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of the MALAYSIAN INSTITUTE 
OF ACCOUNTANTS, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements are to the best of my 
knowledge and belief correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by 
virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960. 
 
 

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named 
CHUA SUAT KHIM at Kuala Lumpur in Wilayah   CHUA SUAT KHIM 
Persekutuan on 26 July 2017 
 
 
Before me, 
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2017 2016
 Note RM RM

Assets  

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 28,312,397 25,463,350

Intangible assets 4 425,254 321,955

Investment 5 7,458 7,458

Deferred tax assets 6 286,768 24,773

29,031,877 25,817,536

Current assets
Inventories 7 4,249 19,282

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 8 1,817,204 2,279,836

Subscription receivables 9 – –

Current tax recoverable 431,509 691,509

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions 10 11,151,148 10,908,193

Cash and bank balances                             6,608,700 6,121,642

20,012,810 20,020,462

Non-current assets held for sale 11 1,614,222 1,614,222

21,627,032 21,634,684

Total assets                                                                      50,658,909 47,452,220

Current liabilities
Subscriptions in advance 4,052,758 4,200,870

Payables and accruals 12 7,012,941 5,748,540

Deferred income – government grants 13 895,008 429,750

Deferred income – others 14 2,745,121 2,095,261

14,705,828 12,474,421

Total liabilities                                                                 14,705,828 12,474,421

Total net assets                                                           35,953,081 34,977,799

Accumulated fund                                                        35,953,081 34,977,799

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2017
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2017 2016
Note RM RM

Membership income 15 13,538,120 13,199,800

Income from events and conferences 16 24,816,394 21,661,321

Total revenue 38,354,514 34,861,121

Other income 17 2,696,841 3,145,647

Total income 41,051,355 38,006,768

Less:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 (1,260,385) (789,856)

Amortisation of intangible assets 4 (174,784) (141,361)

Expenses for events and conferences 16 (12,429,680) (10,834,754)

Employee benefits 18 (19,010,172) (17,996,165)

Finance cost               – (383,692)

Membership services (1,266,224) (1,250,403)

Other operating expenses                             19 (6,196,823) (4,496,342)

Total expenses (40,338,068) (35,892,573)

  

Surplus before tax 713,287 2,114,195

Taxation 21 261,995 99,316

Surplus for the financial year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the financial year 975,282 2,213,511

RM

At 1 July 2015 32,764,288

Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive income for the financial year 2,213,511

At 30 June 2016/1 July 2016 34,977,799

Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive income for the financial year 975,282

At 30 June 2017 35,953,081

Statement of Profit or Loss and  
Other Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017

Statement of Changes in Accumulated Fund
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017
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2017 2016
Note RM RM

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from members and non-members       41,617,880    42,197,486

Payments for expenditure  (39,051,639) (39,307,312)

Cash generated from operations 2,566,241 2,890,174
Government grants received 13 1,130,000 505,000

Rental income 1,500 5,500

Management fees 5,500 5,500

Tax paid (30,000) (895,673)

Tax refund 290,000 –

Net cash flow generated from operating activities 3,963,241 2,510,501

Cash flows from investing activities
Withdrawal of fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions maturing 
later than 3 months 2,286,283 8,965,734

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and acquisition of intangible assets 
(Note A) (4,687,400) (5,040,517)

Interest received 489,572 1,054,403

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale 964,600 –

Net cash flow (used in)/generated from investing activities (946,945) 4,979,620

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowing – 2,224,480

Finance cost paid (profit portion under the Bai’ Bithaman Ajil (BBA) Concept) – (383,692)

Repayment of loan – (18,908,080)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities – (17,067,292)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,016,296 (9,577,171)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 6,121,642 15,698,813

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 9,137,938 6,121,642

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand 6,243 10,700

Bank balances 6,602,457 6,110,942

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions maturing within 3 months 10 2,529,238 –

9,137,938 6,121,642

Note A: Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
acquisition of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment during the financial year 3 4,518,263 4,872,234

Acquisition of intangible assets during the financial year 4 278,084 209,320

Add: Unpaid purchases as at previous financial year end 55,440 14,403

4,851,787 5,095,957

Less: Unpaid purchases as at financial year end (164,387) (55,440)

4,687,400 5,040,517

Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Institute is established under the Accountants Act, 1967 (the Act) and domiciled in Malaysia. The principal objectives 
and activities of the Institute under the Act are:

a) to determine the qualifications of persons for admission as members;
b) to provide for the training and education by the Institute or any other body, of persons practising or intending to practice 

the profession of accountancy;
c) to approve the Malaysian Institute of Accountants Qualifying Examination and to regulate and supervise the conduct of 

that Examination;
d) to regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy in Malaysia;
e) to promote, in any manner it thinks fit, the interests of the profession of accountancy in Malaysia;
f) to render pecuniary or other assistance to members or their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting or 

promoting the welfare of members; and
g) generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose of achieving any of the aforesaid objectives.

There has been no significant change in the nature of these objectives and activities during the financial year.

The registered office of the Institute is located at Dewan Akauntan, Unit 33-01, Level 33, Tower A, The Vertical, Avenue 3, 
Bangsar South City, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council in accordance with a resolution of the Council on 26 July 2017.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1. Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements
The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(MFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared under the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated in the 
accounting policies below. 

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Institute’s functional currency.

2.2. New and Revised Pronouncements Yet in Effect
The accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards 
Board (MASB) which are expected to be applicable and have not been adopted by the Institute are as follows:

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 
• Amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure Initiative) 

• Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
• MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

• MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• MFRS 15 Clarifications to MFRS 15

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
• MFRS 16 Leases

The Institute does not anticipate that the application of the above new and revised pronouncements will have any material 
impact on the Institute’s financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements. 

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost, net of amount of goods and services tax (GST), 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the government. When the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the government, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the property, 
plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, 
it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Institute and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.

 Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in 
accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. 

 When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Institute depreciates them 
separately based on their specific useful lives. The net carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised when the 
replacement occurs. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

 Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life. Capital work-in-progress (Capital WIP) is not depreciated 
until the assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for 
on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each asset to its estimated useful life as follows:

 
Buildings  50 years

Office equipment 10 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Computer equipment  3 years

Renovation 10 years
 
 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year 
the asset is derecognised.

(b) Intangible assets

(i) Computer software 

  Computer software is measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, computer software is measured at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

  The useful lives of computer software are assessed to be finite. Computer software is amortised over their 
estimated useful life of 3 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the computer 
software may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at each financial 
year end. The amortisation expense on computer software is recognised in profit or loss.

  Gain or loss arising from derecognition of computer software is measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss when the computer 
software is derecognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(b) Intangible assets (cont’d)

(ii) Development expenditure 

  Costs incurred on development are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are fulfilled:

  (i) It is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
  (ii) management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
  (iii) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
  (iv) it can be demonstrated that the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
  (v) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset are available; and
  (vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

  Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an intangible asset in 
subsequent period. 

  The development expenditure represents the Institute’s development of the MIA Competency Framework and 
is capitalised based on performance milestone subject to the satisfaction of the Institute.

  The development expenditure, which has definite useful life, is initially recognised at cost and subsequently 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss.

  Capitalised development costs recognised as intangible assets are amortised from the point at which the asset 
is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not exceeding 10 years. 

  The amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. The effects 
of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when changes arise. Where an indication of impairment exists, the 
carrying amount of the development expenditure is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

(c) Inventories

 Inventories such as publications are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in 
first-out basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates, discounts and the amount of GST, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the government, the GST is recognised as part of 
the cost of purchased inventory. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less the cost of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(d) Subscription receivables

 Subscription receivables for 6 months and above due from members who were removed from the Register of Members 
and where, in the opinion of the Council, these debts are no longer recoverable are written off to profit or loss. Members 
who have ongoing investigation and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them and whose subscriptions are in 
arrears for more than 6 months will not be removed from the Register of Members. An impairment of receivables is 
carried out based on a review of all subscription in arrears at the reporting date. Subsequent recovery is taken up on 
a cash receipt basis.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances, deposits 
with licensed financial institutions with original maturities within 3 months and other short-term highly liquid investments 
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 The statement of cash flows is prepared using the direct method.

(f) Non-current asset held for sale

 Non-current assets, that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, 
are classified as held for sale.

 Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are remeasured in accordance with the Institute’s accounting 
policies. Thereafter generally the assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 
of disposal.

 Property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(g) Financial assets

 The Institute recognises all financial assets in its statement of financial position when, and only when, the Institute becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement

  Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

  Financial assets are classified into financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets, depending on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and are determined at the time of initial recognition. 

  The Institute categorises its financial assets as follows:

 Loans and receivables

  Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables.

  Receivables are recognised initially at fair value, with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from the government is presented within receivables, deposits and prepayments’ in the statement of financial position.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 
impaired, and through the amortisation process.

  Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months 
after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

 Available-for-sale financial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investment in equity and debt securities instruments that are not held for 
trading and do not fall in other categories of financial assets.

  After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes 
in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, 
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method 
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-
for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the Institute’s right to receive payment is established.

  Investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment loss.

(ii) Derecognition of financial assets

  A financial asset is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets has expired or it transfers the financial asset without retaining control or substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had 
been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

(h) Impairment of financial assets

 The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

(i) Receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost

  To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, 
the Institute considers factors such as the significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant 
delay in payments. Certain categories of financial assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are 
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence 
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Institute’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable 
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(h) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(i) Receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d)

  If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of amount due from events and conferences participants, subscriptions receivables and other receivables, 
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of allowance accounts. When trade receivables and other 
receivables become uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance accounts.

  If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount 
of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost

  If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer operates, 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried 
at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset. The difference is recognised in profit or loss. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

(i) Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual agreements entered into and the 
definitions of a financial liability. 

 The Institute recognises all financial liabilities in its statement of financial position when, and only when, the Institute 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement

  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial 
liabilities. The Institute categorises its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. 

  Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, with the amount of GST included plus directly 
attributable transaction cost and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The net amount of GST payable to the government is presented within payables and accruals’ in the statements 
of financial position. Other financial liabilities of the Institute include subscriptions in advance and payables.

  For other financial liabilities, gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, 
and through the amortisation process.

(ii) Derecognition of a financial liability

  A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is extinguished. 

  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of 
time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as finance cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(k) Government grants

 Government grants are recognised initially at their fair values in the statement of financial position as deferred income 
where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and all conditions attached will be complied.

 Grants related to property, plant and equipment are set up as deferred income and recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the estimated lives of the assets. Grants that compensate the Institute for expenses incurred are recognised as 
income over the periods to match the cost that the grants are intended to compensate.

(l) Income recognition

 (i) Membership subscription and practising certificate fees are payable annually at the beginning of the financial year. 
Only subscription which is attributable to the current financial year is recognised as income. Subscription relating 
to periods beyond the current financial year is recognised as subscription in advance in deferred income under 
current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

 (ii) Membership admission is recognised upon approval by Council. Membership subscription and admission fees 
for applicants approved after the end of the financial year but received during the financial year are taken up as 
deferred income under current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

 (iii) Income from events and conferences is recognised in the period the services are provided. Advanced payments received 
from events and conferences are recognised as deferred income under current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

 (iv) Processing fee on registration as a candidate for the Qualifying Examination is recognised upon receipt but the 
candidacy fee is only recognised upon approval by the Examination Committee. Examination fees are recognised 
twice every calendar year when the examination is held. Tuition fees are recognised over the tuition term.

 (v) Income from advertisements placed in the Institute’s journal is recognised over the advertisement period. Cash received 
for such advertisements that take place before the said period is taken up as deferred income. Sponsorship income 
is deferred until the event takes place.

 (vi) Income from sale of technical materials/publications is recognised when physical control of the technical materials/
publications passes to the purchasers.

 (vii) Practice review income is recognised upon the rendering of services.

 (viii) Interest income is recognised based on an effective yield basis.

 (ix) Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

(m) Taxation

(i) Current tax

  Income tax on profit or loss for the financial year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected 
amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the financial year and is measured using the 
tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date.

(ii) Deferred tax

  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except for the deferred tax liability that 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except for 
the deferred tax asset that arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(m) Taxation (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax (cont’d)

  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax is recognised as income or expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except when it arises from a 
transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(iii) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

  The net amount of GST being the difference between output GST and input GST, payable to or receivable from the 
respective authorities at the reporting date, is included in other payables or other receivables in the statement of financial 
position. The membership income is treated as out of scope with approval by Royal Malaysian Customs Department.

(n) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term employee benefits

  Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
associated services are rendered by employees of the Institute. Short-term accumulating compensated absences 
such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement 
to future compensated absences. Short-term non-accumulated compensated absences such as sick leave are 
recognised when the absences occur.

(ii) Defined contributions plans

  Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Institute pays fixed contributions 
into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if any 
of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the current 
and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss in the period in 
which the related service is performed. As required by law in Malaysia, such contribution is made to the Employees 
Provident Fund (EPF).

(o) Foreign currency transactions and balances

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Ringgit Malaysia, which is also the Institute functional currency at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates or, where settlement has not yet taken place at the end of the financial year, 
at the approximate exchange rates prevailing at that date. All exchange gains and losses are taken up in the profit or loss.

(p) Leases

(i) As lessee

  Finance leases, which transfer to the Institute substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. 
Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

  Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Institute will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.

  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease 
term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as reduction of rental expense over 
the lease term on the straight-line basis.

(ii) As lessor

  Leases where the Institute retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for 
rental income is set out in Note 2.3 (l)(ix).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
2.3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(q) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare 
the asset for its intended use are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of 
interest and other costs that the Institute incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

(r) Operating segments

 An operating segment is a component of the Institute that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenue 
and incur expenses, including revenue and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Institute’s other components. 
An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which in this case 
is the Chief Executive Officer of the Institute, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to 
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

2.4 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements
There were no significant judgements made in applying the accounting policies of the Institute which may have significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Management makes key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year.

The following represents a summary of the key sources of estimation uncertainty:

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The Council 
estimates that the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment to be within 3 years to 50 years. Changes in the 
expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and residual values 
of the property, plant and equipment. Therefore, the future depreciation charge could be revised. 

 The carrying amount of the Institute’s property, plant and equipment at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 3.

 For intangible assets, changes in the expected useful lives or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expenses on computer software with finite lives are 
recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of the intangible assets at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 4.

(ii) Income taxes and deferred tax

 Estimation is required to determine the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Institute recognises liabilities for 
tax based on estimates of assessment of the tax liability due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions, 
where applicable, in the periods in which such determination is made.

 Deferred tax implications arising from the changes in income tax rates are measured with reference to the estimated 
realisation and settlement of temporary differences in the future periods in which the tax rates are expected to apply, 
based on the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. While the Institute’s estimates on 
the realisation and settlement of temporary differences are based on the available information at the reporting date, 
future operating performance and other factors could potentially impact on the actual timing and amount of temporary 
differences realised and settled. Any difference between the actual amount and the estimated amount would be 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which actual realisation and settlement occurs. 
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2017 2016

RM RM

Computer software

Cost
At beginning of financial year 752,693 543,373
Addition during the financial year 58,844 209,320
At end of financial year 811,537 752,693

Accumulated amortisation
At beginning of financial year 430,739 289,377
Amortisation for the financial year 174,784 141,361
At end of financial year 605,523 430,738
Net carrying amount at end of financial year 206,014 321,955

Development expenditure

Cost
At beginning of financial year – –
Addition during the financial year 219,240 –
At end of financial year 219,240 –
Total 425,254 321,955

The computer software represents the costs of software acquired. The costs of software acquired, including all directly 
attributable costs of preparing the assets for their intended use, are amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of 3 years.

The development expenditure represents the Institute’s development of the MIA Competency Framework. The MIA 
Competency Framework is expected to be ready for its intended use within the next 12 months from the reporting date.

5. INVESTMENT
2017 2016

RM RM

At cost 
Investment, unquoted 7,458 7,458

The Institute acquired 9.09% share in the issued and paid-up share capital of Ultimate Professional Centre (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. 
(UPC) in the financial year ended 30 June 1996.
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6. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Deferred tax asset 286,768 24,773
Deferred tax liability – –

286,768 24,773

At beginning of financial year 24,773 (74,543)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 21)
– property, plant and equipment 126,700 89,406
– provisions and advance receipts 135,295  9,910

261,995 99,316
At end of financial year 286,768 24,773

Deferred tax asset (before offsetting)
– property, plant and equipment 82,813 –
– provisions and advance receipts 203,955 68,661

286,768 68,661
Offsetting – (43,888)
Deferred tax asset (after offsetting) 286,768 24,773

Deferred tax liability (before offsetting)
– property, plant and equipment – (43,888)
Offsetting – 43,888
Deferred tax liability (after offsetting) – –

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Balance of unutilised capital allowances and unutilised losses totalling RM542,137 as at the end of the current financial year 
represents brought forward amounts from membership activities that was prior to the Addendum to Public Ruling No 6/2005 
in relation to tax treatment for Trade Associations. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items at 
the reporting date as the utilisation of the tax benefits is not probable in the foreseeable future:

2017 2016
RM RM

Unabsorbed capital allowance 346,573 346,573
Unutilised tax losses 195,564 195,564

542,137 542,137
Potential deferred tax assets not recognised at 24% (2016: 24%) 130,113 130,113
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7. INVENTORIES
2017 2016

RM RM

At cost 
Publications 4,249 19,282            

During the financial year, the amount of inventories recognised as expense was RM100,615 (2016: RM123,513).

8. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Amount due from participants of events and conferences 377,516 512,387
Other receivables 410,031 461,714

787,547 974,101
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (29,051) (20,924)

758,496 953,177
Prepayments 892,099 1,092,541
Deposits 166,609 234,118

1,058,708 1,326,659
1,817,204 2,279,836

The credit periods granted to receivables range from 30 days to 60 days (2016: 30 days to 60 days).

The ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:   

2017 2016
RM RM

Neither past due nor impaired 543,794 623,630
1 to 30 days past due not impaired 179,413 237,180
31 to 60 days past due not impaired 35,289 73,164
61 to 90 days past due not impaired – 19,203

758,496 953,177
Impaired 29,051 20,924

787,547 974,101

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Institute. 
The Institute does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to debtors with slower repayment pattern. Based on past experience, 
the Council of the Institute is confident to collect the debts and is of the opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary 
as these balances are assessed to be fully recoverable. The Institute does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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8. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONT’D)
Receivables that are impaired

Receivables that are impaired at the reporting date are as follows:

2017 2016
RM RM

Receivables – nominal amounts 29,051 20,924
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (29,051)   (20,924)

– –

These receivables have been individually determined to be impaired when the debt is past due and collection has not been successful. 

The movement of allowance for impairment losses during the financial year is as follows: 

2017 2016
RM RM

At beginning of financial year 20,924 68,435
Impairment losses recognised during the financial year 33,110 41,007
Reversal of impairment losses (24,548) (85,418)
Written off (435) (3,100)
At end of financial year 29,051 20,924

During the financial year, receivables amounting to RM1,502 (2016: RM8,386) were written off to profit or loss.

9. SUBSCRIPTION RECEIVABLES
2017 2016

RM RM

Subscription receivables 1,950 4,350
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (1,950) (4,350)

– –

In accordance with the (Membership and Council) Rules 2001, Part II, para 7(1), the Council may require the Registrar 
to remove from the register the name of any member who is in arrears for 6 months or more in the payment of any fees. 
Members who have ongoing investigation and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them and who are in arrears of 
more than 6 months will not be removed from the Register of Members. An estimate is made for allowance for impairment 
losses based on a review of all subscriptions in arrears at the reporting date.

These receivables have been individually determined to be impaired when the debt is past due and collection has not 
been successful. 

The movement of allowance for impairment losses during the financial year is as follows: 

2017 2016
RM RM

At beginning of financial year 4,350 5,100
Impairment losses recognised during the financial year 650 2,200
Reversal of impairment losses (150) (1,050)
Written off (2,900) (1,900)
At end of financial year 1,950 4,350

During the financial year, subscriptions receivables amounting to RM165,950 (2016: RM168,450) was written off to profit or loss.
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10. FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
The maturity profile of fixed deposits is presented as follows:

2017 2016
RM RM

Within 3 months 2,529,238 –
Later than 3 months 8,621,910 10,908,193

11,151,148 10,908,193

The effective interest rates for the fixed deposits placed with licensed financial institutions range between 3.55% and 3.90% 
(2016: 3.30% to 4.30%) per annum.  

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Cost of freehold land and building 2,611,399 2,611,399
Accumulated depreciation (997,177) (997,177)

1,614,222 1,614,222

The assets classified as held for sale at the end of the financial year comprise of land and building pursuant to a Sale and 
Purchase Agreement (SPA) signed with a third party on 16 February 2017 for a total consideration of RM 9.1 million. The 
deposit of 10% received during the year is included in Note 14 as deferred income with the remaining unpaid amount being 
charged at 8% per annum calculated on a daily basis from the initial deadline for full settlement until full payment is received. 
The disposal is expected to be completed within the next 12 months from the date of the SPA.  

                                               

12. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Payables 1,296,644 759,287
Accruals – events and conferences expenses 481,503 525,172
Accruals – employee benefits 3,958,147 3,796,951
Accruals – education expenses 162,694 59,012
Accruals – others 1,015,253 507,018
Deposits 98,700 101,100

7,012,941 5,748,540

The credit periods granted to the Institute range from 14 days to 60 days (2016: 14 days to 60 days).

13. DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS
 

2017
 Capacity  
building 

 SMIDEC  
training grant

 FRSIC &  
CMAC  Total

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

(a) (b) (c)
At beginning of financial year – – 429,750 429,750
Grant received during the financial year – – 1,130,000 1,130,000

1,559,750 1,559,750

Deferred income released to profit or loss (Note 17) – – (664,742) (664,742)
At end of financial year – – 895,008 895,008
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13. DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS (CONT’D)
 

2016
 Capacity 
building 

 SMIDEC  
training grant

 FRSIC  
& CMAC   Total

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

(a) (b) (c)
At beginning of financial year 6,200 63,952 455,000 525,152
Grant received during the financial year – – 505,000 505,000 

6,200 63,952 960,000 1,030,152

Deferred income released to profit or loss (Note 17)  (6,200) (63,952) (530,250) (600,402)
At end of financial year – – 429,750 429,750

(a) Capacity Building

 Approval on government assistance for capacity building was obtained on 12 April 2012 to carry out various programmes 
to upgrade capacity building for the nation. Grant received was fully utilised in previous financial year.

(b) SMIDEC training grant

 The Institute received a training grant from SMECorp Malaysia (SMIDEC) for mandatory and skill program for subsidising 
qualified participants’ course fees. Subsidy received was fully utilised in previous financial year.

(c) FRSIC and CMAC

 In financial year ended 30 June 2015, the Capital Market Development Fund (CMDF) approved a grant to the Institute 
for implementing and administering Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee (FRSIC) and Capital 
Market Advisory Committee (CMAC) projects. The grant is receivable annually over a period of 4 years from May 2015 
to 31 December 2018 for a total sum of RM4.52 million, to be used for initiatives in capacity building of professional 
accountants through the provision of knowledge and skills upgrading courses and to achieve consistent application of 
the securities laws and rules of the stock exchange and accounting standards through the provision of guidance notes, 
clarification and consensuses. The total grant received to date amounted to RM2.14 million (2016: RM1.01 million).

14. DEFERRED INCOME – OTHERS
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Membership application fees 276,100 269,850
Practising certificate application fees 14,500 10,000
Readmission fees 1,550 6,850
Deferred income – events and conferences 999,192 1,379,332
Deferred income – review on accreditation of universities – 16,000
Deferred income – qualifying examination 398,930 227,300
Deferred income – education and advertisements 144,849 148,193
Deferred income – technical programmes – 37,736
Deferred income – deposit received on disposal of non-current assets held for sale 910,000 –

2,745,121 2,095,261
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15. MEMBERSHIP INCOME 
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Members’ annual subscription fees 11,903,770 11,602,300
Members’ admission fees 783,600 796,000
Practising certificate fees 850,750 801,500

13,538,120 13,199,800

16. INCOME FROM / (EXPENSES FOR) EVENTS AND CONFERENCES 
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Income 24,816,394 21,661,321
Direct expenses (12,429,680) (10,834,754)

12,386,714 10,826,567

17. OTHER INCOME 
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Education income 639,090 459,444
Accountants Today and other web advertisements 113,798 162,485
Publication sales 102,885 134,032
Practice review billings 185,913 187,265
Income from joint activities with other professional bodies 91,290 103,737
Interest on fixed deposits and current accounts 544,908 938,127
Enforcement penalty reimbursement 49,230 77,050
Release of government grants 664,742 600,402
Technical program fees 82,698 238,853
Miscellaneous income 222,287 244,252

2,696,841 3,145,647

   

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Salaries, overtime and bonus 15,481,564 14,476,206
Contributions to EPF 2,259,655 2,231,387
Other staff benefits 534,882 503,682
Social security contribution 119,892 112,147
Staff training 254,904 437,209
Staff welfare 359,275 235,534

19,010,172 17,996,165

Included in the employee benefits is the key management personnel compensation shown in Note 22(c).
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19. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES        
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Education expenses 569,749 352,301
Technical programme expenses 274,198 272,622
Subscription receivables impaired and written off 166,450 169,600
Assets written and expensed off 411,607 8,220
Receivables impaired and written off/(recovered) 10,063 (36,025)
International relations expenses 494,429 546,232
Auditor’s remuneration - statutory audit 16,214 14,578
Bank charges 282,713 281,950
Legal fee 291,039 207,424
Consultancy fees 276,675 60,817
Upkeep of office 436,233 399,896
Upkeep of office equipment 234,212 185,017
Committee to Strengthen the Accountancy Profession expenses 389,898 –
Agent fee on sale of non-current assets held for sale 182,000 –
Printing, postage and stationery 334,274 301,038
Rental of premises 201,192 543,150
Utilities 413,884 380,685
Promotional cost 526,183 328,061
Other expenses 685,810 480,776

6,196,823 4,496,342

20. INCOME AND EXPENSES BY OPERATING SEGMENT
 

2017
Professional 

Development
Membership & 

Education

Professional 
Practices &  

Technical 
 Surveillance & 

Enforcement Total
RM RM RM    RM RM

Revenue 24,816,394 13,538,120 – – 38,354,514
Other income – 1,125,693 763,473  255,767 2,144,933
Total income 24,816,394 14,663,813 763,473  255,767 40,499,447
Less:
Direct expenses (12,429,679) (1,043,770) (274,298)    (108,643) (13,856,390)
Employee benefits                                                                         (2,473,073) (2,222,533) (2,344,873)  (3,580,876) (10,621,355)
Overheads (214,361) (1,572,337) (189,449) (612,096) (2,588,243)

(15,117,113) (4,838,640) (2,808,620) (4,301,615) (27,065,988)
Surplus/(Deficit) before 
allocated expenses* 9,699,281 9,825,173 (2,045,147) (4,045,848) 13,433,459
Less:
Employee benefits – allocated (2,532,473) (2,374,194) (1,345,376) (2,136,774) (8,388,817)
Overheads – allocated (1,474,193) (1,382,056) (783,165)  (1,243,849) (4,883,263)

(4,006,666) (3,756,250) (2,128,541)  (3,380,623) (13,272,080)
Surplus/(Deficit) at segment level 5,692,615 6,068,923 (4,173,688) (7,426,471) 161,379
Interest Income 544,908
Rental and management income 7,000
Surplus before tax at Institute level 713,287
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20. INCOME AND EXPENSES BY OPERATING SEGMENT (CONT’D)
 

2016
Professional 

Development
Membership & 

Education

Professional 
Practices &  

Technical 
 Surveillance & 

Enforcement Total
RM RM RM    RM RM

Revenue 21,661,321 13,199,800 – – 34,861,121
Other income – 1,338,680 592,525 264,315 2,195,520
Total income 21,661,321 14,538,480 592,525 264,315 37,056,641
Less:
Direct expenses (10,834,754) (1,717,550) (272,623) (4,518) (12,829,445)
Employee benefits (2,509,141) (3,016,685) (2,255,566) (3,626,046) (11,407,438)
Overheads (164,897) (809,220) (195,306) (229,570) (1,398,993)

(13,508,792) (5,543,455) (2,723,495) (3,860,134) (25,635,876)
Surplus/(Deficit) before 
allocated expenses* 8,152,529 8,995,025 (2,130,970) (3,595,819) 11,420,765
Employee benefits – allocated (1,833,385) (2,635,491) (744,813) (1,375,038) (6,588,727)
Overheads – allocated (1,020,652) (1,467,188) (414,641) (765,489) (3,667,970)

(2,854,037) (4,102,679) (1,159,454) (2,140,527) (10,256,697)
Surplus/(Deficit) at segment level 5,298,492 4,892,346 (3,290,424) (5,736,346) 1,164,068
Interest Income 938,127
Rental and management income 12,000
Surplus before tax at Institute level 2,114,195

Notes:

1. Membership & Education division is supported by the Education Committee; Examination Committee and Young 
Professionals Committee.

2. Professional Practices & Technical division is supported by Auditing and Assurance Standards Board; Capital Market Advisory 
Committee; Ethics Standards Board; Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee; Integrated Reporting 
Steering Committee; Islamic Finance Committee; Professional Accountants In Business Committee; Public Sector Accounting 
Committee; SMP Committee; Insolvency Practice Committee; Valuation Committee; Public Practice Committee and 
Taxation Practice Committee.

3. Surveillance and Enforcement division is supported by the Financial Statements Review Committee; Practice Review 
Committee; Investigation Committee; Disciplinary Committee and Disciplinary Appeal Board.

*  The allocation is based on headcount.

21. TAXATION
 

2017 2016
RM RM

Deferred tax (Note 6)
– relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (261,995) (99,316)

(261,995) (99,316)

For tax purposes, the Institute is treated as a Trade Association” under Section 53(3) of the Income Tax Act 1967 under which 
its chargeable income is taxed at scaled rates.
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21. TAXATION (CONT’D)
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to surplus before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
at the effective income tax rate of the Institute is as follows:

2017 2016
RM RM

Surplus before tax 713,287 2,114,195

Taxation at applicable statutory tax rate of 24% (2016: 24%) 171,189 507,407
Tax effects of:
−	 expenses	not	deductible	for	tax	purposes 201,502 94,822
−	 membership	income	not	subject	to	tax (634,686) (698,563)
−	 change	in	tax	rate – (2,982)

(261,995) (99,316)

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The following are considered as the related party of the Institute:

(i) A person or close member of that person’s family that has control or joint control or has significant influence or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the Institute.

(ii) An entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i) or a person identified in (i) has significant influence 
over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity.

Transactions carried out with related parties during the financial year were as follows:

(a) Fees paid by Council members
2017 2016
 RM  RM 

Members’ annual subscription & practising certificate fees 16,400 13,300

(b) Fees paid to Council members and their related parties
2017 2016
 RM  RM 

Speaker fees, QE examination & facilitator fees and contract fees 600,295 451,079

 
 The above related party transactions are transacted in the normal course of business. The outstanding balance for the 

above related party transactions amounting to RM148,791 (2016: RM54,384) is included in payables and accruals.

(c) Key management’s remuneration

 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Institute either directly or indirectly.

 The key management personnel of the Institute that received remunerations are the Chief Executive Officer, and the 
Executive Directors of Membership & Operations, Professional Practices & Technical, Strategy & Development and 
Surveillance & Enforcement. The remunerations for the key management personnel for the financial year, which includes 
the contract fees as stated in Note 22(b) are as follows:

2017 2016
 RM  RM 

Salaries, bonus and contract fees 1,913,103 1,961,721
Contribution to EPF 223,866 227,611
Social security contribution 3,079 2,891

2,140,048 2,192,223

 The year-end outstanding balance of RM604,459 (2016: RM333,571) in relation to compensation payable to key management 
personnel is included in payables and accruals.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another enterprise.

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Loans and  
receivables 

Financial  
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

As at 30 June 2017
Financial assets:
– Investment 7,458 – – 7,458
– Receivables and deposits – 925,105 – 925,105
– Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions – 11,151,148 – 11,151,148
– Cash and bank balances – 6,608,700 – 6,608,700
Total financial assets 7,458 18,684,953 – 18,692,411

Financial liabilities:
– Payables – – 1,395,344 1,395,344
– Accruals – – 5,617,597 5,617,597
Total financial liabilities – – 7,012,941 7,012,941

    
As at 30 June 2016
Financial assets:
– Investment 7,458 – – 7,458
– Receivables and deposits – 1,187,295 – 1,187,295
– Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions – 10,908,193 – 10,908,193
– Cash and bank balances – 6,121,642 – 6,121,642
Total financial assets 7,458 18,217,130 – 18,224,588

Financial liabilities:
– Payables – – 860,387 860,387
– Accruals – – 4,888,153 4,888,153
Total financial liabilities – – 5,748,540 5,748,540

 
(b) Net gains arising from financial instruments

2017 2016
 RM  RM 

Net gains on loans and receivables 368,394 420,860
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)
(c) Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Institute’s financial risk management objectives are to ensure that the Institute creates value and maximises returns 
to the Institute and its members at large. The Institute’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure that adequate 
financial and non-financial resources are available for the smooth implementation of its operations. The Institute has 
exposure on credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Institute does not invest in quoted shares and is, therefore, 
not exposed to market risk arising from the risk of the financial instruments fluctuating due to changes in market prices.

(i) Credit risk

  Receivables and transactions with banking institutions may give rise to credit risk which requires the loss to be 
recognised if a counter party fails to perform as contracted. The counter parties are licensed financial institutions 
and organizations. It is the policy of the Institute to monitor the financial standing of these counter parties on an 
on-going basis to ensure that the Institute is exposed to minimal credit risk. 

  The Institute has also exercised strict control in removing members in arrears of more than 6 months as provided 
under the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (Membership and Council) Rules 2001.

  Other than as mentioned, the Institute has no significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum exposures to 
credit risk are represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets in the statement of financial position.

(ii) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity or funding risk is the risk of the inability to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.

  The Institute practices prudent liquidity risk management to maintain sufficient levels of cash or cash equivalents 
to meets its requirements of working capital.    

  Maturity analysis

  The maturity profiles of the Institute’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on 
undiscounted contractual payments are as follows:

Carrying  
amount 

Gross  
contractual  

cash flow  < than a year    1 - 5 years > 5 years
 RM RM  RM RM RM

2017
Payables and accruals 7,012,941 7,012,941 7,012,941 – –

2016
Payables and accruals 5,748,540 5,748,540 5,748,540 – –

(iii) Interest rate risk 

  The Institute is exposed to interest rate risk in respect of its fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions and 
banks. The Institute places fixed deposits at competitive rates under the most favourable terms and conditions. 
As fixed deposits are subject to fixed rate and not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, a change 
in the market interest rates would not affect the financial result for the financial year and the fund of the Institute. 

(d) Fair value 

 The carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Institute at the end of the financial year 
approximated their fair values, on the following basis:

 Short term financial assets and financial liabilities 

 Carrying amounts approximated fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
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24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The objectives of the Institute in managing capital are:

(a) to safeguard the Institute’s function, which is to regulate and develop the accountancy profession in Malaysia in line with 
its statutory obligations under the Accountants Act 1967;

(b) to develop and enhance competency through continuous education and training to meet the challenges of the global 
economy; and 

(c) to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Institute’s operational efficiency. 

The Institute regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure adequacy for both operational and capital needs. All surpluses 
are transferred to the accumulated fund for future operational needs.

For the purpose of capital disclosure, the Council regards the accumulated fund as capital of the Institute. 

25. COMMITMENTS
 

2017 2016
 RM  RM 

Authorised capital expenditures not provided for in the financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment
 Approved and contracted for                                                 –  2,954,912

Intangible assets
 Approved and contracted for                                          219,240 –

Note:

The amount approved and contracted for in the previous year was in relation to the acquisition of the new office suite at Bangsar 
South. The current year capital commitment amount is in relation to the development expenditure for MIA Competency Framework.

26. OPERATING LEASES
Lease of office premises

Institute as lessee

The Institute has entered into leases of office premises. These non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of between 
1 and 3 years. Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are as follows:

2017 2016
 RM  RM 

                                                                                     
Less than one year 139,800 125,975
Between one and three years 151,300 69,600

291,100 195,575
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